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Marco Polo Marine is a growing integrated marine logistic group that facilitates
the growth of and investments in South East Asia through its ship chartering
and shipyard businesses.

The Group's ship chartering business provides tug boats and barges to its
customers from the mining, commodities, construction, infrastructure, property
development and land reclamation industries. It also provides transhipment
services which involve the transportation of coal from the mines in Indonesia
to the bulkers of the coal purchasers for their onward transportation to electric
power plants throughout Asia.  The Group also embarks in providing offshore
vessels for its ship chartering business.

The Group has a shipyard in Batam, Indonesia occupying a land area of
approximately 34 hectares and approximately 650 metres of seafront with
two drydocks, measuring 150m x 40 m x 8.5m and 175m x 40m x 8.5m.  With
the completion of the two drydocks in 2009, the Group’s shipyard has
expanded its services to ship repair and ship conversion services in addition
of ship building projects.  The combined capacities at the two drydocks can
serve vessels of varying lengths for ship repair, thus making Marco Polo
Marine’s ship repair yard one of the larger ship repair facilities in Batam,
Indonesia.

Equipped with the necessary technical know-how, competent engineers, as
well as modern facilities and equipment, the Group’s shipyard is well positioned
to become a one-stop service centre that provides a suite of integrated marine
logistics services ranging from ship building, ship repair and ship conversion.
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DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the board of directors, I am pleased to present to you the annual
report of the Group for the financial year ended 30 September 2010.

A Review of FY2010

With the economies of South East Asia staging a strong recovery in 2010
from the global financial crisis, improvement in business sentiments around
the region supported the continued growth of our integrated marine logistics
operations.

Due the Group’s strategic investments to expand our asset and revenue base
in prior years, we achieved higher chartering revenue from a growing operating
fleet, new contribution from ship repair as well as the completion and deliveries
of more sophisticated offshore support vessels in FY2010. For the financial
year ended 30 September 2010, we recorded an 18% increase in revenue to
$64.3 million and strong growth of 90% in net profit to $19.1 million.
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New Opportunities Ahead

In recent years, new coal-fired power plants are built in Java and Sumatra to
ease the electricity supply situation in Indonesia and more power plants are
expected to be operational over time. The Indonesian government is also
committed to step up oil and gas production. Such developments will boost
the long term demand for marine logistic services to ship coal to these power
plants as well as offshore support vessels for oil and gas exploration. As a
fast growing marine logistics group with increasing presence in Indonesia,
we are a clear beneficiary of this favourable operating environment.

To diversify our geographical base, we will also be exploring the potentials
of the energy sector in the region, in particular Australia and Thailand. With
our extensive contacts in the region, I am confident we will be able to acquire
new customers and secure new contracts from the region to increase revenue
contribution from our offshore marine business.

A Word of Thanks

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my appreciation to our
management and staff for their commitment and hard work in FY2010. I also
wish to record my thanks to my fellow directors for their wise counsel and
guidance in helping the Group to establish a strong foundation for growth.
Last but not least, I am grateful to our customers, shareholders, bankers,
business associates and suppliers for their continuing support during the year.

Lee Wan Tang
Executive Chairman
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“With our expanded marine logistics
operations, we achieved a record
net profit of S$19.1 million in
FY2010, an increase of 90%
over FY2009”





Dear Shareholders,

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The strong pick-up in business activities in the South East Asian region has
generated robust demand for ship chartering and shipping related services.
This has benefited the expansion of the Group’s marine logistics and shipyard
operations. For the financial year ended 30 September 2010, the Group
achieved healthy broad based revenue growth of 18% to $64.3 million.

With our ongoing efforts to expand the size of our operating fleet, revenue
from ship chartering operation rose 21% from $26.9 million in FY2009 to $32.5
million in FY2010. At the Batam shipyard, the Group secured more ship repair
contracts from new as well as existing customers following the full operation
of the two drydocks from early FY2010. This boosted the revenue from ship
building and ship repair business segment to $31.8 million, an improvement
of 15% from the previous year.

Profitability

In FY2010, gross profit grew 2% to $18.5 million on a lower gross profit margin.
The decline in gross profit margin was mainly attributed to the ship chartering
operations which experienced softer charter rates, lower fleet
utilization due to re-flagging downtime and higher fuel cost in FY2010.

However, this negative impact was offset by other operating income which
soared 1,216% to $6.9 million as the Group recorded gains on disposal of 20
vessels over the year of which 18 vessels were due to the reflagging exercise.
Overall profitability was further boosted by the significant increase in our
share of results of jointly-controlled entities which rose more than 16-fold as
a result of a gain on disposal of 24 vessels and improved business performance.
With this, the Group concluded the financial year with strong net profit growth
of 90% to $19.1 million.

Financial Position

During the year, the Group generated positive net cash flow of $11.8 million
from operating activities. The cash, together with the proceeds from the
disposal of vessels, were mainly used to finance an expansion of the chartering
fleet and repay bank borrowings.

As at 30 September 2010, the Group’s balance sheet remained healthy.
Inventories, trade receivables and trade payables rose in tandem with higher
level of business activities. Through better working capital management, net
gearing was significantly reduced to 32%. Net assets of the Group increased
26% from $73.1 million as at 30 September 2009 to $91.9 million as at 30
September 2010 to reflect the expansion in operations.

49.3Ship Chartering

Ship Building
& Repair

TOTAL 64.3    100.0

50.7

BUSINESS
SEGMENT

FY 2010

$’m %

FY 2009

$’m %

Change

$’m %

32.5 5.6

15.231 .8

9.8      18.054.5    100.0

50.5

49.5 27.6

26.9

4.2

20.8
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“Our expanding
integrated marine
logistics operations serve
the energy sector in
Indonesia and the region”



OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Ship Chartering Operation

In view of the strong demand for marine logistic services brought about by
healthy economic growth in South East Asia, we continued to expand our
fleet of vessels to capitalize on the buoyant business opportunities. Excluding
the 25 vessels owned by our jointly controlled entities, our operating fleet
size increased from 46 as at 30 September 2009 to 63 as at 30 September
2010.

In order to meet customers’ need for marine logistic services in Indonesia,
the Group undertook a re-flagging exercise to enable more of our vessels to
operate freely in Indonesian waters. Through sale-and-leaseback arrangement,
a total of 18 tugboats and barges were disposed over the year. The capital
gain from such sale of vessels contributed to the Group’s profitability in
FY2010.

With our growing fleet size, the Group was able to secure more contracts for
coal transportation within Indonesia and for export. In FY2010, the aggregate
value of coal shipment contracts secured totalled approximately $66.0 million.

Shipyard Operation

The Group is positioned as a fully integrated one-stop service centre that
provides a suite of marine logistic services that include ship building, ship
repair and ship conversion. The full operation of the two drydocks at our
Batam shipyard from the beginning of FY2010 has expanded our integrated
capabilities.

With enhanced ship building and ship repair capabilities, our shipyard operation
secured increased number of ship repair contracts and successfully completed
and delivered two 5,380-bhp AHTS vessels during the year. In addition, a
higher level of in-house ship building activities also kept our shipyard busy
as we continue to increase marketing efforts to secure more third-party ship
building contracts.

Offshore Chartering Operation

Since 2009, we have been actively building our offshore division. In FY2010,
the Group incorporated Marco Polo Offshore Pte Ltd to hold our offshore
interests and recruited an experienced offshore team with good contacts in
the region. This team has already contributed to an increase in our participation
in the offshore energy sector.

To fund the expansion of our offshore operation, the Group placed out 35
million new ordinary shares at $0.43 per placement share in October 2010.
As part of our strategic plan to capitalize on the strong demand for offshore
vessels in Australia, we acquired two Australian flagged utility vessels with
existing charter contracts and good track record in Australian waters. These
two offshore support vessels will contribute positively to the Group’s profitability
in FY2011.

Prospects

The high oil price and recent commissioning of new coal-fired power plants
in Java and Sumatra will continue to underpin rising demand for ship chartering
and shipping related services in Indonesia. The Group has already secured
several contracts to transport coal to some of these power plants in FY2010
and revenue from these contracts will be recognized in FY2011. In addition,
the Group targets to expand the size of the operating fleet to over 100 vessels
so as to capitalize on the growing demand for tugboats and barges in this
region.

Besides Indonesia, we are mindful of the potential of the energy sector in
Thailand and Australia. Going forward, additional investments will be made
to expand our offshore chartering division through a larger fleet of offshore
support vessels. We expect new contracts and meaningful profit contribution
from the offshore chartering division from FY2011.
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As for the shipyard operation, higher level of ship repair and ship building
activities will improve capacity utilization in our Batam shipyard. The Group
recently secured a ship conversion contract worth $3.0 million and six ship
building contracts totalling $8.3 million. These contracts will contribute
positively to the Group’s net profit in FY2011. We expect more contracts to
be secured in the current financial year.

Barring unforeseen circumstances, we are optimistic of our performance in
FY2011.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to sincerely thank all our management
and staff at Marco Polo Marine. Your hard work and commitment has contributed
to the Group’s strong performance in FY2010. I look forward to work closely
with you as a united team for our continued success in FY2011.

SEAN LEE YUN FENG
Chief Executive Officer
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FY 2009

Ship Chartering     49.3%

Shipyard     50.7%

FY 2010

Shipyard     49.5%

Ship Chartering     50.5%
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LEE WAN TANG
Executive Chairman

Mr Lee Wan Tang is the Executive Chairman of
our Group. He is responsible for the strategic
positioning and business expansion of our Group.
Mr Lee has been instrumental in the development
of our ship chartering operations and the initial
planning and setting up of Marco Polo Shipyard.
In 2005, having recognised the region’s demand
for ship building and ship repair and maintenance
services, he established our shipyard business.
Prior to his involvement with our Group, from
1979 to 1990, he was principally involved in the
formulation of the business directions and
strategies of other companies controlled by the
Lee Family.

SEAN LEE YUN FENG
Chief Executive Officer

Mr Sean Lee Yun Feng is our Group CEO. He is
responsible for the overall management and day-
to-day operations of our Group as well as the
formulation of the business directions, strategies
and policies of our Group. Mr Sean Lee is
instrumental in initiating and penetrating new
markets for both our shipping and shipyard
operations. On the operational front, he
introduced a slew of strategic operational
measures which greatly improved the efficiency
of our fleet of vessels. He also spearheads our
shipyard operations since it commenced
operations in December 2005. Mr Sean Lee
graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce degree
from the Murdoch University (Western Australia)
and Master degree from INSEAD and Tsinghua
University (Beijing).

LIELY LEE
Executive Director

Ms Liely Lee is our Executive Director. She joined
our Group as the Director (Finance) of our Group
in 2006.  Presently Ms Lee oversees treasury,
human resource and administration matters of
our Group. Prior to joining us, she was a co-
owner of Gelare, a food and beverage chain in
Singapore with 13 outlets where she oversaw
the finance, accounting, legal, taxation and human
resource matters of the Gelare chain for seven
years. Ms Lee graduated with a Bachelor of
Commerce degree from the Murdoch University
(Western Australia) in 1995 and Masters degree
(Accounting) with Curtin University (Western
Australia) in 2008.

LAI QIN ZHI
Non-Executive Director

Mdm Lai Qin Zhi is our Non-Executive Director.
Mdm Lai has been a director of Marco Polo
Shipping since 2001, where she oversaw the
financial and taxation matters of Marco Polo
Shipping. Prior to her involvement with Marco
Polo Shipping, she was the Finance Director of
a few companies controlled by the Lee Family,
a role she presently assumes.

LIM HAN BOON
Lead Independent Director

Mr Lim Han Boon is our Lead Independent
Director. He is concurrently an independent
director of Addvalue Technologies Ltd and
Sunshine Holdings Limited. Mr Lim is presently
a director of Winvest Management Pte Ltd, which
is principally engaged in the provision of
consultancy services. Prior to which, he held
various positions with several financial institutions
in the corporate banking, corporate finance and
venture capital industries. Mr Lim obtained a
Bachelor of Accountancy Degree from the
National University of Singapore in 1987 and a
Master of Business Administration (Finance)
degree from the City University, U.K. in 1992. He
is also a Fellow Member of the Institute of
Certified Public Accountants of Singapore and
a Full Member of the Singapore Institute of
Directors since 2001.

SIM SWEE YAM PETER
Independent Director

Mr Sim Swee Yam Peter is our Independent
Director. Mr Sim is a practising lawyer and director
of his own law firm, Sim Law Practice LLC. He
graduated from the University of Singapore (now
known as the National University of Singapore)
in 1980 with a degree in law and was admitted
to the Singapore Bar in 1981. He is also an
independent director of British and Malayan
Trustees Ltd, Lum Chang Holdings Ltd, Pacific
Healthcare Holdings Ltd and Mun Siong
Engineering Ltd. He also sits on the board of
Young Menís Christian Association (YMCA) of
Singapore as well as Singapore Heart Foundation.
Mr Sim was awarded the Pingkat Bakti
Masyarakat in August 2000 and the Bintang
Bakti Masyarakat in August 2008.

LEE KIAM HWEE KELVIN
Independent Director

Mr Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin, is our Independent
Director. Mr Lee began his career with Coopers
and Lybrand, an international audit firm and was
there for 15 years from 1979 to 1994. He joined
IMC Holdings Ltd, a company principally engaged
in ship owning from 1994 to 2003 as the Group
Financial Controller where he contributed
towards the strategic business planning and
overall financial management, and put in place
financial control systems of the company. He
moved on to Pan United Corporation as its Chief
Financial Officer until March 2007. Presently, Mr
Lee is an Independent Director and Audit
Committee Chairman of Pacific Healthcare
Holdings Ltd and HTL International Holdings Ltd.
Mr Lee is also an Independent Director of
AusGroup Limited. Mr Lee is a Fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
(UK), Fellow of the Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Full Member of the Singapore
Institute of Directors since 2004.
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Ms CHAN CHAI LING is the Financial Controller
of our Group. She joined our Group in June 2010.
She is responsible for the accounting, financial,
secretarial and tax related matters of our Group.
She is in the accounting profession for 15 years
with more than 10 years working experience in
Singapore listed companies. Prior to joining the
Group, she was the finance director of CWT
Limited and was in the corporate finance team
of ComfortDelGro Limited. She holds a bachelor
of Accountancy from the Nanyang Technological
University and is a certified public accountant
(Singapore) of the Institute of Certified Public
Accountants of Singapore.

Mr SIMON KARUNTU is the Director (Shipyard
Operations) of our shipyard division.  He joined
our Group in July 2008.  He is responsible for
overseeing the overall operations and general
administrative functions of our shipyard
operations and liaising with the various
Indonesian government authorities and other
regulatory authorities on legal matters for the
shipyard operations in Batam. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr Karuntu was responsible for
planning, organising and overseeing various
major projects undertaken by an Indonesian
company such as the construction of asphalt
sealed roads linking major cities in the Riau
Province of Indonesia, including liaising with
Indonesian government and other regulatory
authorities.

Mr CHEAM YEOW CHENG is the Director of our
shipyard division. He joined our Group in April
2008. He is responsible for overseeing our
Group’s shipyard division which includes
shipbuilding, ship repairs and other marine
engineering services, production scheduling,
facilities planning and operational matters. Mr
Cheam has more than 24 years of experience in
the marine industry. He was a General Manager
(shipbuilding) in Pan United Marine Ltd from
1994 to 2008 and an Engineering Manager with
ST Marine Ltd from 1986 to 1994. Mr Cheam
holds a Honours Degree in Naval Architecture
from University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, UK.

Mr CHUA ENG BOON is the Director of our
shipping division. He joined our Group in August
2010. He is responsible for overseeing our Group’s
shipping division, strengthening and developing
the Group’s shipping business. Mr Chua has more
than 30 years of experience in the marine
industry. Prior to joining the Group, he was a
managing director of an offshore supply base
for eight years and act as a general manager of
a marine, salvage, towage and offshore company
for 22 years.
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The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) is committed to achieving a high standard of 

corporate governance within the Group and to putting in place effective self-regulatory corporate 

practices to protect the interests of its shareholders and enhance the shareholders’ value in the long-

term. The Company adopts practices based on the Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (the “Code”) 

and the Best Practice Guide issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-

ST”). The Board is pleased to report that the Company’s conduct of corporate practices has been in 

compliance with the Code, except where otherwise stated, and is regularly reviewing the corporate 

practices to ensure transparency and accountability.

Principle 1: The Board’s Conduct of Its Affairs

Apart from its statutory duties and responsibilities, the Board supervises the management of the 

business and affairs of the Group. The Board reviews and advises on the Group’s strategic plans, 

key operational initiatives, major funding and investment proposals; identifies principal risks of the 

Group’s businesses and ensures the implementation of appropriate systems to manage these risks; 

reviews the financial performances of the Group; and evaluates the performances and compensation 

of senior management personnel.

The Board is generally responsible for the approval of the quarterly and yearly results announcement, 

annual report and accounts, major investments and fundings, material acquisitions and disposals of 

assets and interested person transactions of a material nature.

To facilitate effective management, certain functions have been delegated by the Board to the 

following Committees:

• Audit Committee

• Nominating Committee

• Remuneration Committee

These committees operate under clearly defined terms of references and operating procedures. 

The Chairman of the respective Committees reports the outcome of the Committee meetings to the 

Board.

The Board will meet regularly to oversee the business and affairs of the Group or conduct Board 

meeting by way of teleconference or video conference which the Company’s Articles of Association 

allow. To assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities, the Board will be provided with management 

reports and papers containing adequate, relevant and timely information to support the decision 

making process.
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The number of meetings held and the attendance report of the Board and of the various Board 
Committees during the financial year ended 30 September 2010 are as follows:

Board
Meeting

Audit 
Committee

Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

No. of meetings held 4 4 1 1

No. of meetings attended

Lee Wan Tang 3 – – –

Sean Lee Yun Feng 4 – – –

Liely Lee 4 – – –

Lai Qin Zhi 3 3 1 1

Lim Han Boon 3 3 1 1

Sim Swee Yam Peter 4 4 1 1

Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin 4 4 1 1

Principle 2: Composition of Board and Guidance

The Board currently has seven members, comprising three executive directors and four non-executive 
directors, as follows:

Lee Wan Tang Executive Chairman

Sean Lee Yun Feng Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)

Liely Lee Executive Director

Lai Qin Zhi Non-Executive Director

Lim Han Boon Lead Independent Director

Sim Swee Yam Peter Independent Director

Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin Independent Director

The Board is of the opinion that its current size and composition is appropriate for decision making, 
taking into account the scope and nature of the Group’s operations. The concept of independence 
adopted by the Board is in accordance with the definition of an independent director as defined in 
the Code.

The Board consists of high calibre members with a wealth of experience and knowledge in business. 
They contribute valuable direction and insight, drawing from their vast experiences on matters relating 
to accounting, finance, legal, business and general corporate matters. The composition of the current 
Board represents a well balanced mix of expertise and experience among the members.

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Company, Mr Lee Wan Tang is an executive director. Besides giving guidance 
on the corporate direction of the Group, as an executive Chairman, Mr Lee chairs the Board meetings 
and ensures the adequacy and timeliness of information being supplied to the Board.

Mr Sean Lee Yun Feng, the CEO, sets the business strategies and directions for the Group and manages 
the business operations of the Group. He is supported by Ms Liely Lee, an executive director, and 
other management staff.
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Nominating Committee
Principle 4: Board Membership
Principle 5: Board Performance

The Nominating Committee (“NC”) comprises the following members, the majority of the members 
including the Chairman of the committee, are independent non-executive directors:

Sim Swee Yam Peter Chairman, Independent Director
Lim Han Boon Lead Independent Director
Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin Independent Director
Lai Qin Zhi Non-Executive Director

The principle functions of the NC include:

• Recommending to the Board all Board appointments and assessing the effectiveness of the 
Board as a whole and the contribution of each director to the effectiveness of the Board;

• Evaluating the independence of the directors; and

• Reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the structure, size and composition 
of the Board.

Board renewal is an ongoing process to ensure good governance and to maintain relevance to the 
changing needs of the Group. In other words, no director stays in office for more than three years 
without being re-elected by shareholders.

Principle 6: Access to Information

Management provides Board members with quarterly management accounts and other financial 
statements to enable the Board to fulfill its responsibilities. Board members have full and independent 
access to senior management and the company secretary at all times. In addition, the Board or an 
individual Board member may seek independent professional advice, if necessary, at the Company’s 
expense.

The company secretary is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are being followed and 
the Company complies with the requirements of the Companies Act and other rules and regulations, 
which are applicable to the Company.

Remuneration Committee
Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration
Principle 9: Disclosure of Remuneration

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises the following members, majority of whom are 
independent non-executive directors:

Lim Han Boon Chairman, Lead Independent Director
Sim Swee Yam Peter Independent Director
Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin Independent Director
Lai Qin Zhi Non-Executive Director
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Remuneration Committee (cont’d)

The principle functions of the RC include:

• Recommending to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Board, covering all aspects of 
remuneration such as directors’ fee, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefit-in-kind;

• Proposing to the Board, appropriate and meaningful measures for assessing the executive 
directors’ performance;

• Determining the specific remuneration package for each executive director; and

• Considering and recommending to the Board the disclosure of details of the Company’s 
remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration and procedure for setting remuneration and 
details of the specific remuneration packages of the directors and key executives of the Group 
as required by law or by the Code.

In performing its function, the Committee endeavours to establish an appropriate remuneration policy 
to attract, retain and motivate executive directors, while at the same time ensure that the reward in 
each case takes into account individual performance as well as the Group’s performance.

In carrying out the above, the RC may obtain independent external legal and other professional advice 
as it deem necessary. The expense of such advice will be borne by the Company.

The non-executive directors receive directors’ fees in accordance with their level of contributions, 
taking into account factors such as the scope of responsibilities, effort and time spent for serving on 
the Board and the Board Committees. The directors’ fees are recommended by the Board for approval 
at the AGM. For the year under review, the RC has recommended directors’ fees of S$187,000 which the 
Board would table at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) for shareholders’ approval.

The Executive Chairman and the CEO, Mr Lee Wan Tang and Mr Sean Lee Yun Feng have entered into 
separate services agreements with the Company which are automatically renewed annually, unless 
either party to the service agreement concerned gives its intention to terminate the agreement with 
a not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other party or, in lieu of which, pays the other 
party an amount equal to three months of the salaries of the executive director concerned.

The number of directors of the Company with remuneration from the Company and its subsidiary 
companies is set out below:

Number of directors

Remuneration bands 2010 2009

Above S$500,000 – –

S$250,000 to below S$500,000 3 2

Below S$250,000 4 5

Total 7 7

The following table shows a breakdown of the annual remuneration (in percentage terms) paid or 
payable to the directors and top five key executives of the Group for the financial years ended 30 
September 2010.
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Remuneration Committee (cont’d)

Directors’ 
Fee Fixed Variable Total

% % % %

Directors

S$250,000 to below S$500,000

Lee Wang Tang – 80 20 100

Sean Lee Yun Feng – 77 23 100

Liely Lee – 80 20 100

Below S$250,000

Lai Qin Zhi 100 – – 100

Lim Han Boon 100 – – 100

Sim Swee Yam Peter 100 – – 100

Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin 100 – – 100

Key Executives

S$250,000 to below S$500,000

Cheam Yeow Cheng – 90 10 100

Chua Eng Boon – 93 7 100

Below S$250,000

Simon Karuntu – 92 8 100

Chan Chai Ling – 92 8 100

The Group adopts a remuneration policy for staff which comprises a fixed component and a variable 
component. The fixed component is in the form of a base salary and allowances. The variable 
component is in the form of a variable bonus that is linked to the Group’s and each individual’s 
performance.

There were no employee of the Group who are the immediate family members of a director whose 
remuneration exceeds S$150,000 during the financial year ended 30 September 2010.

Principle 10: Accountability

The Board keeps the shareholders updated on the business of the Group through releases of the 
Group’s results, publication of the Company’s Annual Report and timely release of relevant information 
through the SGXNET and the corporate website of the Company.

All shareholders of the Company will receive the Annual Report and the notice of AGM. The notice 
is also advertised in a local newspaper. The Company encourages shareholders’ participation at 
AGMs, and all shareholders are given the opportunity to voice their views and to direct queries 
regarding the Group to the directors, including the chairperson of each of the Board Committees. 
The external auditors are also present to assist the directors in addressing any relevant queries from 
the shareholders.
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Principle 11: Audit Committee
Principle 12: Internal Controls
Principle 13: Internal Audit

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises the following members, all of whom are non-executive 
directors with the majority being independent directors:

Lim Han Boon Chairman, Lead Independent Director

Sim Swee Yam Peter Independent Director

Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin Independent Director

Lai Qin Zhi Non-Executive Director

The AC reviews with the external auditors, Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP, the findings on the audit 
of the financial statement. It also reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, including 
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management. It undertakes the following 
principal functions:

• Review with the internal and external auditors the audit plan, their evaluation of the system 
of internal controls, their audit report, their management letter and the response from the 
management;

• Review the financial statements before submission to the Board for approval, focusing, in particular, 
on changes in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments 
resulting from the audit, the going concern statement, compliance with accounting standards 
as well as compliance with any stock exchange and statutory/regulatory requirements;

• Review the internal control procedures and the assistance given by the management to the 
auditors, and discuss problems and concerns, if any, arising from the interim and final audits, 
and any matters which the auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of the management 
where necessary);

• Review and discuss with the internal and external auditors any suspected fraud and irregularity, 
or suspected infringement of any relevant laws, rules and regulations, which has or is likely to 
have a material impact on our Group’s operating results or financial position, and the response 
from the management;

• Consider the appointment and re-appointment of the internal and external auditors and matters 
relating to the resignation or dismissal of the external auditors;

• Review the adequacy of the Group’s internal financial controls, operational and compliance 
controls and risk management policies and systems;

• Review transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 and Chapter 10 of the Listing Manual; 
and

• Review the Group’s foreign exchange exposure and the procedures to manage its foreign 
currency risks.

The AC shall also undertake:

• Such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board and report to the Board its 
findings from time to time on matters arising from and requiring the attention of the AC; and

• Such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the Listing Manual, and by 
such amendments made thereto from time to time.
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To effectively discharge its responsibility, the AC has full access to, and the co-operation of, the 
management and has full discretion to invite any directors and executive officers to attend its meetings. 
Full resources are made available to the AC to enable it to discharge its function properly.

The Group has engaged a firm of certified public accountants to perform the internal audit function 
in order to satisfy and comply with the requirements of best practices set out in the Singapore Code 
of Corporate Governance 2005. The internal auditor, who reports primarily to the Chairman of the 
AC, adopts the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by the Institute of 
Internal Auditors.

In the course of the year, the AC has reviewed with the management, with the assistance of the internal 
and external auditors, the major business risks and the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, 
including financial, operational and compliance controls.

With the assistance of the internal and external auditors, the management has identified the main 
business processes and the associated financial and operational risks, and developed a set of minimum 
acceptable controls to address the key risks. Based on the review by the AC, the Board is satisfied 
that the internal controls and risks management process of the Group are adequate to safeguard 
shareholders’ interest and the Company’s assets.

The AC has adopted a Whistle Blowing Policy (the “Policy”) for the Group, which provides a channel 
for employees and other parties to report in confidence, without fear of reprisals, concerns about 
possible improprieties in financial reporting or other matters. The Policy is to assist the AC in managing 
allegations of fraud or other misconduct; ensuring that the disciplinary and civil actions initiated 
following the completion of the investigations are appropriate and fair; and implementing actions to 
correct the weakness in the existing system of internal processes which allowed the perpetration of 
the fraud and/or misconduct and with a view to prevent similar recurrence.

The Board affirms its overall responsibility for the Group’s systems of internal controls and risk 
management. It reviews the adequacy and integrity of those systems on an annual basis. It should 
be noted, however, that such systems are designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of 
failure to achieve business objective. In addition, it should be noted that any such system could 
provide only reasonable, and not absolute assurance against material misstatement of loss (including 
the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of financial 
information, compliance with appropriate legislations, regulations and best practices, and the 
identification and containment of business risks).

During the financial year under review, the AC has met formally with the external auditors twice 
to review any area of audit concern. Ad-hoc AC meetings were carried out from time to time, as 
circumstances required.

Principle 14: Communication with Shareholders
Principle 15: Greater Shareholder Participation

The Board endeavours to maintain regular, timely and effective communication with shareholders 
and investors. Quarterly and full year results, including disclosure of information on material matters 
required by the Listing Manual, will be promptly disseminated to shareholders through announcements 
made via the SGXNET followed by a news release, which will also be available on the Company’s 
website.

The Board welcomes the view of shareholders on matters affecting the Group, whether at shareholders’ 
meeting or on an ad-hoc basis. Shareholders are informed of meetings through notices published in 
the newspapers and reports or circulars sent to all shareholders.

At general meetings, shareholders are given the opportunity to pose any questions to the directors 
or management relating to the Group’s business or performances.
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Interested Person Transactions

The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons 
are reported in a timely manner to the AC and that the transactions are carried out on an arm’s 
length basis. Save for the following interested person transactions, there were no interested person 
transactions (of more than S$100,000) entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries for 
the financial year under review:

Name of Interested Persons Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions during the 
financial year under review 
(excluding transactions less 
than S$100,000 and transactions 
conducted under Shareholders’ 
Mandate pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions conducted 
under the IPT General Mandate 
(excluding transactions less than 
S$100,000) pursuant to Rule 
920

S$’000 S$’000

Sale of vessels to PT. 
Pelayaran Nasional Bina 
Buana Raya

– 26,100

Material Contracts

There were no material contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interest of any 
director or controlling shareholder of the Company subsisting as at the end of the financial year under 
review or entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted internal regulations with respect to dealings in securities by directors 
and officers of the Group that are modeled on the Best Practice Guide of SGX-ST. The directors, 
management and officers of the Group who have access to price-sensitive, financial or confidential 
information are not permitted to deal in the Company’s shares during the periods, commencing 
two weeks before the announcement of the Group’s quarterly results and one month before the 
announcement of the Group’s full year results and ending on the date of announcement of such result, 
or when they are in procession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group. In addition, 
the officers of the Company are advised not to deal with the Company’s securities for short-term 
considerations and are expected to observe the insider trading laws at all times even when dealing 
in securities within the permitted trading periods.

Risk Management Policies and Processes

The Company does not have a Risk Management Committee. The executive directors and senior 
management assumes the responsibilities of the risk management function. They regularly assesses 
and reviews the Group’s business and operational environment, in order to identify areas of significant 
business and financial risks, such as credit risks, foreign exchange risks, liquidity risks and interest 
rates risks, as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks.
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The directors present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of Marco Polo Marine Ltd. (the “Company”) and subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the 
financial year ended 30 September 2010 and the statement of financial position of the Company as 
at 30 September 2010.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Mr Lee Wan Tang

Mdm Lai Qin Zhi

Mr Sean Lee Yun Feng

Ms Liely Lee

Mr Lim Han Boon

Mr Sim Swee Yam Peter

Mr Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares and 
debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any 
arrangement whose object was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means 
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of section 164 of the Singapore 
Companies Act, Cap. 50, none of the directors holding office at the end of the financial year had any 
interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related corporations, except as follows:

Shareholdings registered in the 

name of directors

Shareholdings in which directors are

deemed to have an interest

At beginning 

of year

At end of 

year

At 

21 October 

2010

At beginning 

of year

At end of 

year

At 

21 October 

2010

(a) Interests in Marco Polo Marine Ltd. (the Company)

Ordinary shares

Lee Wan Tang 1,500,000 1,500,000 – 201,557,374 202,557,374 188,057,374

Lim Han Boon 664,101 664,101 364,101 – – –

Sim Swee Yam Peter 150,000 150,000 150,000 – – –
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Directors’ interests in shares or debentures (cont’d)

Shareholdings registered in the 

name of directors

Shareholdings in which directors are

deemed to have an interest

At beginning 

of year

At end of 

year

At 

21 October 

2010

At beginning 

of year

At end of 

year

At 

21 October 

2010

(b) Immediate and ultimate holding company  – Nautical International Holdings Ltd

Ordinary shares

Lee Wan Tang 660,003 660,003 660,003 – – –

Lai Qin Zhi 158,401 158,401 158,401 – – –

Sean Lee Yun Feng 237,600 237,600 237,600 – – –

Liely Lee 132,001 132,001 132,001 – – –

By virtue of section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, Lee Wan Tang, Lai Qin Zhi, Sean 
Lee Yun Feng and Liely Lee are deemed to have interests in the entire capital of the wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of the Company at the beginning and at the end of the financial year.

Directors’ contractual benefits

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a 
benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company, or a related corporation with the director or 
with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a Company in which the director has a substantial 
financial interest except as disclosed in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Certain 
directors received remuneration from related corporations in their capacity as directors and/or 
executives of those related corporations.

Share options

During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the Company or any subsidiary were 
granted and no shares were issued by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares of 
the Company or any subsidiaries. There were no unissued shares of the Company or any subsidiaries 
under option at the end of the financial year.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee at the date of this report are as follows:

Mr Lim Han Boon (Lead Independent Director)
Mr Sim Swee Yam Peter (Independent Director)
Mdm Lai Qin Zhi (Non-executive Director)
Mr Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin (Independent Director)

The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B (5) of the Singapore 
Companies Act, Cap. 50, the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
and the Code of Corporate Governance.
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Audit Committee (cont’d)

In performing those functions, the Audit Committee reviewed:

• the scope and the results of internal audit procedures with the internal auditor;

• the audit plan of the Company’s independent auditor and its report on the weaknesses of internal 
accounting controls arising from the statutory audit;

• the assistance given by the Company’s management to the independent auditor;

• the periodic results announcements prior to their submission to the Board for approval;

• the statement of financial position of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of 
the Group for the financial year ended 30 September 2010 prior to their submission to the Board 
of Directors, as well as the independent auditors’ report on the statement of financial position of 
the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group; and

• interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited).

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to 
discharge its functions. It has full authority and discretion to invite any director or executive officer 
to attend its meetings.

The Audit Committee convened four meetings during the year with attendance from majority of 
members and has also met with the internal and independent auditors, without the presence of the 
Company’s management, at least twice a year.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that the independent auditors, 
Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting of the Company. The Audit Committee has conducted an annual review of 
non-audit services to satisfy itself that the nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the 
independence and objectivity of the external auditors before confirming their re-nomination. The 
Audit Committee has also conducted a review of interested person transactions.

Further details regarding the Audit Committee are disclosed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

Independent auditors

The independent auditors, Horwath First Trust LLP, who are now practising under the name of Crowe 
Horwath First Trust LLP with effect from 18 November 2010 have expressed their willingness to accept 
re-appointment as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

SEAN LEE YUN FENG LIELY LEE
Director Director

Singapore
3 January 2011
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In the opinion of the Directors,

(a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position of the 

Company together with notes thereto as set out on pages 36 to 93 are drawn up so as to give a 

true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 September 

2010 and of the results, changes in equity and the cash flows of the Group for the financial year 

then ended; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be 

able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

SEAN LEE YUN FENG LIELY LEE

Director Director

Singapore

3 January 2011
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Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP

Certified Public Accountants

7 Temasek Boulevard

#11-01 Suntec Tower One

Singapore 038987

Tel: (65) 6221 0338

Fax: (65) 6221 1080

www.crowehorwath.com.sg

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

MARCO POLO MARINE LTD.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Marco Polo Marine Ltd. (the “Company”) 

and subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 36 to 93, which comprise the statement of financial 

position of the Company and of the Group as at 30 September 2010, and the consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement 

of cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore 

Financial Reporting Standards. The responsibility includes:

(a) devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a 

reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or 

disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary 

to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to 

maintain accountability of assets;

(b) selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

(c) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require 

that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance as to whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

MARCO POLO MARINE LTD. (cont’d)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 

well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the statement of financial position of the Company and the consolidated financial statements 

of the Group are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore 

Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 

Company and of the Group as at 30 September 2010, and the results, changes in equity and 

cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended on that date; and

(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 

subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP

Public Accountants and

Certified Public Accountants

Singapore

3 January 2011
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Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to 

the equity holders of the Company

Share capital 3 44,673 44,673 44,673 44,673

Foreign currency translation reserve (352) 11 – –

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 4 47,575 28,456 (1,324) (630)

TOTAL EQUITY 91,896 73,140 43,349 44,043

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 5 110,792 119,364 – –

Investment in subsidiaries 6 – – 4,320 4,320

Jointly controlled entities 7 16,774 8,553 – –

127,566 127,917 4,320 4,320

Current assets

Inventories 8 5,195 3,661 – –

Trade receivables 9 8,981 4,799 – –

Due from customers for construction 

contracts 10 12,429 10,329 – –

Other receivables, deposits and 

prepayments 11 3,423 7,615 30 121

Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 12 – – 36,872 37,332

Fixed deposits 28 7,441 3,579 3,493 3,579

Cash and bank balances 28 16,197 8,919 83 4,803

53,666 38,902 40,478 45,835

TOTAL ASSETS 181,232 166,819 44,798 50,155

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Bank overdraft 28 7,401 – 91 –

Trade payables 13 24,226 21,194 – –

Due to customers for construction 

contracts 10 – 1,505 – –

Other payables and accruals 14 10,459 19,528 260 137

Due to a subsidiary (non-trade) 12 – – – 4,230

Borrowings – interest bearing 15 13,981 23,995 682 647

Income tax payable 944 304 – –

57,011 66,526 1,033 5,014

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings – interest bearing 15 31,927 26,876 416 1,098

Deferred tax liabilities 18 332 277 – –

Deferred income – government grant 66 – – –

32,325 27,153 416 1,098

TOTAL LIABILITIES 89,336 93,679 1,449 6,112

NET ASSETS 91,896 73,140 43,349 44,043

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Group

2010 2009

Note $’000 $’000

Revenue 19 64,271 54,543

Cost of sales (45,793) (36,466)

Gross profit 18,478 18,077

Other operating income 20 6,856 521

Administrative expenses (4,657) (3,390)

Other operating expenses 21 (4,256) (2,783)

Profit from operations 16,421 12,425

Finance costs 23 (2,548) (2,372)

Share of profits in jointly controlled entities 7 6,235 377

Profit before income tax 24 20,108 10,430

Income tax expenses 25 (989) (368)

Net profit for the financial year 19,119 10,062

Other comprehensive loss:

Exchange differences arising from translation of foreign 

operations (2) –

Share of other comprehensive loss of jointly controlled entities (361) –

Total other comprehensive loss (363) –

Total comprehensive income for the year 18,756 10,062

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 19,119 10,062

Earnings per share (cents) 26

Basic 6.3 3.5

Diluted 6.3 3.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share

capital

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve

Retained 

earnings

Total

equity

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 October 2008 37,446 11 18,394 55,851

Total comprehensive income 

for the year – – 10,062 10,062

Issue of shares 3 7,500 – – 7,500

Shares issue expenses 3 (273) – – (273)

Balance as at 30 September 2009 44,673 11 28,456 73,140

Balance as at 1 October 2009 44,673 11 28,456 73,140

Total comprehensive income 

for the year – (363) 19,119 18,756

Balance as at 30 September 2010 44,673 (352) 47,575 91,896
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2010 2009

Note $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before income tax 20,108 10,430

Adjustments for:

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6,647 5,326

 Property, plant and equipment written off 73 33

 Interest expense 2,548 2,372

 Amortisation of deferred income – government grant (33) –

 Interest income (110) (23)

 (Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (6,091) 11

 Share of profits in jointly controlled entities (6,235) (377)

 Currency realignment 395 5

Operating profit before working capital changes 17,302 17,777

 Inventories (1,534) 2,786

 Trade and other receivables 110 (119)

 Due (to)/from customers for construction contracts (3,605) 8,004

 Trade and other payables 323 8,011

Cash generated from operations 12,596 36,459

 Interest paid (550) (493)

 Income tax paid (251) (363)

Net cash generated from operating activities 11,795 35,603

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 27 (59,730) (60,155)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 68,048 1,780

Jointly controlled entities 7 (2,347) 581

Placement of fixed deposits and cash pledged with 

 licensed bank (8,839) (1,428)

Interest received 110 23

Net cash used in investing activities (2,758) (59,199)
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2010 2009

Note $’000 $’000

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of new shares – net – 7,227

(Repayment of)/proceeds from term loans – net (4,163) 22,167

(Repayment of)/proceeds from notes payables (6,359) 1,953

Repayment of lease obligations (1,175) (511)

Interest paid on lease obligations (167) (214)

Interest paid on term loans (1,831) (1,665)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (13,695) 28,957

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,658) 5,361

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 8,919 3,563

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (442) (5)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 28 3,819 8,919

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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These notes are an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 

statements.

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Marco Polo Marine Ltd. (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled 

in Singapore and listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). The 

address of the Company’s registered office and principal place of business is at 11 Sims Drive 

#02-01, Singapore 387385.

The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is Nautical International Holdings Ltd, 

a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands.

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of its 

subsidiaries are described in Note 6. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 

30 September 2010 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of 

Directors on 3 January 2011.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except 

as disclosed in the accounting policies below and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions 

of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 and the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 

(“FRS”).

The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars and all values are rounded to the 

nearest thousands ($’000) unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management 

to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also 

requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts 

of revenues and expenses during the financial year. Although these estimates are based on 

management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ 

from those estimates. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions used that are significant 

to the financial statements and areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity are 

disclosed in this Note.

Adoption of new and revised standards

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except 

in the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards and 

Interpretations of FRS (INT FRS) that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

October 2009. The adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have any effect 

on the financial performance or position of the Group and the Company except as disclosed 

below:
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Adoption of new and revised standards (cont’d)

FRS 103 Business Combinations (revised) and FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements (revised)

The revised FRS 103 Business Combinations and FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 

Statements are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. As of 1 October 

2009, the Group adopted both revised standards at the same time in accordance with their 

transitional provisions.

FRS 103 Business Combinations (revised)

The revised FRS 103 introduces a number of changes to the accounting for business combinations 

that will impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an 

acquisition occurs, and future reported results. Changes in significant accounting policies 

resulting from the adoption of the revised FRS 103 include:

– Transaction costs would no longer be capitalised as part of the cost of acquisition but will 

be expensed immediately;

– Consideration contingent on future events are recognised at fair value on the acquisition 

date and any changes in the amount of consideration to be paid will no longer be adjusted 

against goodwill but recognised in profit or loss;

– The Group elects for each acquisition of a business, to measure non-controlling interest 

at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s 

identifiable net assets, and this impacts the amount of goodwill recognised; and

– When a business is acquired in stages, the previously held equity interests in the acquiree 

is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date with any corresponding gain or loss 

recognised in profit or loss, and this impacts the amount of goodwill recognised.

According to its transitional provisions, the revised FRS 103 has been applied prospectively. 

Assets and liabilities that arose from business combinations whose acquisition dates are before 

1 October 2009 are not adjusted.

FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised)

Changes in significant accounting policies resulting from the adoption of the revised FRS 27 

include:

– A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control 

is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such a change will have no impact 

on goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss recognised in profit or loss;

– Losses incurred by a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if the 

losses exceed the non-controlling interest in the subsidiary’s equity; and

– When control over a subsidiary is lost, any interest retained is measured at fair value with 

the corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Adoption of new and revised standards (cont’d)

FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised) (cont’d)

According to its transitional provisions, the revised FRS 27 has been applied prospectively, 

and does not impact the Group’s consolidated financial statements in respect of transactions 

with non-controlling interests, attribution of losses to non-controlling interests and disposal 

of subsidiaries before 1 October 2009. The changes will affect future transactions with non-

controlling interests.

New accounting standards and FRS interpretations

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been 

published as at the balance sheet date and are relevant and mandatory for the Group’s 

accounting periods beginning on or after 1 October 2010 or later periods and which the Group 

has not early adopted.

Description

Effective for 
annual periods 

beginning
on or after

Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments:

 Presentation – Classification of Rights Issues

1 February 2010

Amendments to INT FRS 114 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding 

Requirement

1 January 2011

INT FRS 115 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate 1 January 2011

– Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2010

– Amendments to FRS 7 Statement of Cash Flows 1 January 2010

– Amendments to FRS 17 Leases 1 January 2010

– Amendments to FRS 36 Impairment of Assets 1 January 2010

– FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 1 January 2010

– Amendments to FRS 108 Operating Segments 1 January 2010

– Revised FRS 24 Related Party Disclosures 1 January 2011

Except for the revised FRS 24, the directors expect that the adoption of the other standards 

and interpretations above will have no material impact on the financial statements in the period 

of initial application. The nature of the impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of 

the revised FRS 24 is described below.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

New accounting standards and FRS interpretations (cont’d)

Revised FRS 24 Related Party Disclosures

The revised FRS 24 clarifies the definition of a related party to simplify the identification of such 

relationships and to eliminate inconsistencies in its application. The revised FRS 24 expands the 

definition of a related party and would treat two entities as related to each other whenever a 

person (or a close member of that person’s family) or a third party has control or joint control 

over the entity, or has significant influence over the entity. The revised standard also introduces 

a partial exemption of disclosure requirements for government-related entities. The Group is 

currently determining the impact of the changes to the definition of a related party has on the 

disclosure of related party transaction. As this is a disclosure standard, it will have no impact 

on the financial position or financial performance of the Group when implemented in 2011.

Basis of consolidation

Business combinations from 1 October 2009

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries 

used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same 

reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transaction 

and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from 

intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group 

obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable 

assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their 

fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the 

periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are received.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 

appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 

circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation 

of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value 

at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration 

which deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in accordance with FRS 39 either 

in profit or loss or as change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is 

classified as equity, it is not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

Business combinations from 1 October 2009 (cont’d)

In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree are 

remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is recognised 

in profit or loss.

The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in 

the acquiree (if any) is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling 

interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree identifiable net assets.

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business 

combination, the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value 

of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of 

the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. In instances where the 

latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as gain on bargain purchase in profit 

or loss on the acquisition date.

Business combinations before 1 October 2009

In comparison to the above mentioned requirements, the following differences applied:

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Transaction costs 

directly attributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling 

interest (formerly known as minority interest) was measured at the proportionate share of the 

acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as separate steps. Adjustments to 

those fair values relating to previously held interests are treated as a revaluation and recognised 

in equity.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract 

by the acquiree are not reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination results in 

a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would 

otherwise be required under the contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the 

economic outflow was more likely than not and a reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent 

measurements to the contingent consideration affected goodwill.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group, directly or indirectly, holds more than half of the 

issued share capital, or controls more than half of the voting power, or controls the composition 

of the board of directors. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently 

exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another 

entity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that involves the establishment of a corporation, 

partnership or other entities over which there is contractually agreed sharing of joint control 

over the economic activity of the entity. Joint control exists when strategic financial and 

operational decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of all the parties 

sharing control.

Investment in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in the financial statements using the 

equity method of accounting.

Functional and foreign currencies

Functional currency and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of each entity are presented in the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated 

financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company are 

presented in Singapore dollars, which is also the functional currency of the Company. All values 

are rounded to the nearest thousands ($’000) as indicated.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the 

Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies 

at exchange rates approximating those ruling at transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at statement of 

financial position date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 

foreign currency are translated using exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. 

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in foreign currencies are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on retranslation of 

monetary items at the statement of financial position date are recognised in profit or loss 

except for exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of the Group’s net 

investment in foreign operations, which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income 

and accumulated under translation reserve in equity. The foreign currency translation reserve is 

reclassified from equity to profit or loss of the Group on disposal of the foreign operation.

Translation of Group’s financial statements

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the results 

and financial position of the Group’s foreign operations (including comparative) are translated 

into Singapore dollars, being the presentation currency, using the following procedures:

• Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented (including 

comparative) are translated at the closing rate ruling at the statement of financial position 

date;
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Functional and foreign currencies (cont’d)

Translation of Group’s financial statements (cont’d)

• Income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income (including comparative) 

are translated at average rates for the year, which approximates the exchange rates at the 

dates of transactions; and

• Share capital is translated at historical rates.

All resulting exchange differences are recognised in a separate component of equity as foreign 

currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in 

foreign entity (including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in 

foreign entity), are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve.

Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of the asset 

comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its 

working condition and location for its intended use. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 

carrying amount or recognised as separate asset, as appropriate, only when the cost is incurred 

and it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 

Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing 

of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as 

incurred.

After initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method to write-off the 

cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives have been taken 

as follows:

Useful lives (Years)

Leasehold land 23

Freehold office building 50

Office equipment, furniture & fittings 3–5

Renovation 5

Vessels 15

Machinery and equipment 4–8

Motor vehicles 4

Leasehold improvements over the remaining life 

of leasehold land
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Vessels-in-construction comprises direct cost of construction and installation during the period 

of construction and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the 

Group’s accounting policy. Vessels-in-construction is transferred to the appropriate category 

of assets when it is completed and ready for its intended use. No depreciation is provided on 

vessels-in-construction until the vessels are completed and is ready for its intended use.

The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted as appropriate at each 

reporting date to ensure that the amount, the method and period of depreciation are consistent 

with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property, plant and equipment.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment 

is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the 

asset and is recognised in the profit or loss and the revaluation reserve related to those asset, 

if any, is transferred directly to retained earnings.

For acquisitions and disposals of vessels during the financial year, depreciation is charged 

from the month the asset is put into operational use and up to the month before disposal 

respectively.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in 

use.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 

impaired. If any such indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset 

is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is calculated as the higher of the asset’s value in use and the 

asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and is determined for an individual 

asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely dependent on those 

from other assets. In determining value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be 

generated by the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 

asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. Where 

the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to 

its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss except for assets that are previously 

revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the 

impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous 

revaluation.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Impairment of non-financial assets (cont’d)

An assessment is made at each balance sheet date of whether there is any indication of 

impairment of any asset, or whether there is any indication that an impairment loss previously 

recognised for an asset in prior years may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously 

recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to 

determine the recoverable amount of an asset since the last impairment loss was recognised. If 

that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.

This increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 

depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised 

in the profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the reversal 

is treated as a revaluation increase.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Group becomes 

a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at 

fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 

assets have expired or have been transferred. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, 

the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any 

cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised directly in equity is recognised in the statement 

of comprehensive income.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on 

trade date basis where the purchase or sale of assets are under a contract whose terms require 

delivery of the assets within the timeframe established by the market concerned.

The Group classifies its investments in financial assets in the category of loans and receivables. 

The classification depends on the purpose for which the assets were acquired. Management 

determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this 

designation at every reporting date.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Group provides money, goods 

or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable. They are included 

in current assets, except those maturing more than 12 months after the balance sheet date 

which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are presented as trade and 

other receivables on the balance sheet. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables 

are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are 

recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and 

through the amortisation process.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assess at each statement of financial position date whether there is any objective 

evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and recognised the 

impairment loss when such evidence exists.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the 

asset is impaired, and is measure as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 

present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s effective interest 

rate computed at initial recognition. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 

use of an allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss.

When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is 

reduced directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged 

to the allowance account are written off against the carrying value of the financial asset.

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has 

been incurred, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant 

financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 

related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 

recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset 

does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised 

in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Raw materials comprise 

purchase cost accounted for on a first-in, first-out basis.

Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust 

the carrying value of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 

estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to be incurred for selling and 

distribution.

Construction contract

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and 

contract costs associated with the construction contract should be recognised as revenue and 

expenses respectively by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the 

statement of financial position date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Construction contract (cont’d)

When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to 

the extent of contract costs incurred that is probable to be recovered and contract costs are 

recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. An expected loss on the 

construction contract should be recognised as an expense immediately when it is probable that 

total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue.

The stage of completion is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred to date relating 

to the estimated total costs for the contract with due consideration to include only those costs 

that reflect work performed. The aggregate of costs incurred and the profit or loss recognised on 

each contract is compared against the progress billings up to the financial year end. Where costs 

incurred and recognised profit (less recognised losses) exceed progress billings, the balance is 

shown as amount due from customers for construction contracts. Where the progress billings 

exceed costs incurred and recognised profit (less recognised losses), the excess is shown as 

amount due to customers for construction contracts.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 

comprises cash on hand and at banks, demand deposits net of pledged deposits and short-term, 

highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that form 

an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities within the scope of FRS 39 are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only 

when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus, in the case of financial liabilities 

other than derivatives, directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

derivatives are measured at fair value. Other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method.

For financial liabilities other than derivatives, gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 

when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process. Any gains or losses 

arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or 

losses on derivatives include exchange differences.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 

different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange 

or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 

new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the profit 

or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recorded at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and subsequently 

accounted for at amortised costs using the effective interest method. Borrowings which are due 

to be settled within twelve months after the statement of financial position date are included in 

current borrowings in the statement of financial position even though the original term was for 

a period longer than twelve months and an agreement to refinance, or to reschedule payments, 

on a long-term basis is completed after the statement of financial position date and before 

the financial statements are authorised for issue. Other borrowings due to be settled more 

than twelve months after the statement of financial position date are included in non-current 

borrowings in the statement of financial position.

Leases

(i) As lessee

Finance leases, which effectively transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and 

rewards incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the 

lease at the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 

lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and 

reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest on the 

remaining balance of the liability for each period. Finance charges are charged directly 

to profit or loss. Contingent rent, if any, are charged as expenses in the period in which 

they are incurred.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of 

the assets and the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain 

ownership by the end of the lease term.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is 

recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(ii) As lessor

Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 

the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an 

operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over 

the lease term on the same bases as rental income.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when there is a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of 

a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 

be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 

obligation. Provisions are reviewed regularly and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of provision is the present 

value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that 

the grant will be received and all attached conditions will be complied with. Where the grant 

relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the balance sheet 

and is amortised to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal 

annual instalments.

Share capital

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental 

costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share 

capital.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 

the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria 

must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Charter hire income is recognised on a time proportion basis.

Revenue from shipbuilding contracts is recognised using the percentage of completion method, 

measured by reference to the percentage of direct costs incurred to date relating to estimate 

total direct costs for the contract with due consideration made to include only those costs that 

reflect work performed.

When the outcome of contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the 

extent of contract costs incurred that is probable will be recoverable.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal 

amounts outstanding and the effective interest rates applicable.

Rental income arising commercial property sub-leases is accounted for on a straight-line basis 

over the lease terms. The aggregate cost of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a 

reduction of rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly 

attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of 

borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or 

sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs 

are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or sale.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Employees’ benefits

(i) Retirement benefits

The Group participates in the national schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in 

which it has operations.

Singapore

The Company and its subsidiaries make contribution to the Central Provident Fund (CPF) 

Scheme in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme.

Indonesia

The subsidiaries, incorporated and operating in Indonesia, are required to provide certain 

retirement plan contribution to their employees under existing Indonesia regulations. 

Contributions are provided at rates stipulated by Indonesia regulations and are managed 

by government agencies, which are responsible for administering these amounts for the 

subsidiary’s employees.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as 

an expense in the profit or loss as and when they are incurred.

(ii) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A 

provision is made for the estimated liability as a result of services rendered by employees 

up to the statement of financial position date.

Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit 

as reported in the statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or 

expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not 

taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates and 

tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the Company and 

its subsidiaries operate by the statement of financial position date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable 

profit, and are accounted for using the statement of financial position liability method. Deferred 

tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax 

assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 

against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are 

not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition 

(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 

neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Income tax (cont’d)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 

subsidiaries and interest in joint venture, except where the Group is able to control the reversal 

of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in 

the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position 

date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will 

be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the 

liability is settled or the asset realised based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted 

or substantially enacted by the statement of financial position date. Deferred tax is charged or 

credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, 

in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by 

the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities 

on a net basis.

Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control 

the other party, or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and 

operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common 

control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate 

entities.

Segment information

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to 

the executive committee whose members are responsible for allocating resources and assessing 

performance of the operating segments.

Financial guarantees

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments 

to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment 

when due.

Financial guarantees are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction 

costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, financial guarantees are recognised as income in profit or loss over the period of the 

guarantee. If it is probable that the liability will be higher than the amount initially recognised 

less amortisation, the liability is recorded at the higher amount with the difference charged to 

profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Jobs credit scheme

Cash grants received from the government in relation to the Jobs Credit Scheme are net-off 

against salary.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical 

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 

reasonable under the circumstances.

(i) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting 

accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 

estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed 

below.

(a) Useful lives of vessel

The cost of vessels is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. 

Management estimates the useful lives of these vessels to be within 15 years. 

These are common life expectancies applied in the shipping industry. Changes 

in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact on 

the economic useful life of these vessels. Therefore future depreciation charges 

could be revised. The carrying amount of the vessels as at 30 September 2010 was 

approximately $44,435,000 (2009: $42,445,000) and is disclosed in Note 5.

(b) Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Singapore and Indonesia. Significant 

judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are 

certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is 

uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities 

for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. 

Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were 

initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred income 

tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(i) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (cont’d)

(c) Construction contracts

The Group recognises contract revenue by reference to the stage of completion of 

the contract activity at the balance sheet date, when the outcome of a construction 

contract can be estimated reliably. The stage of completion is measured by reference 

to the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to 

the estimated total contract costs. Significant assumptions are required to estimate 

the total contract costs and the recoverable variation works that will affect the stage 

of completion. The estimates are made based on past experience and knowledge 

of the project engineers. The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising from 

construction contracts at the balance sheet date are disclosed in Note 10 to the 

financial statements.

(ii) Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies

The management is in the opinion that any instances of judgements (other than those 

arising from estimates described above) are not expected to have significant effect on 

the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

3. SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company

2010 2009
Number of

shares $’000
Number of

shares $’000

Issued and fully paid:
At the beginning of the year 305,750,000 44,673 285,750,000 37,446

Issue of shares – – 20,000,000 7,500

Shares issue expenses – – – (273)

At the end of the year 305,750,000 44,673 305,750,000 44,673

The holders of ordinary shares of the Company are entitled to receive dividends as and when 

declared by the Company. All ordinary shares of the Company carry one vote per share without 

restriction. The ordinary shares have no par value.

On 16 June 2009, the Company issued 20,000,000 new ordinary shares for consideration of 

$7,500,000 for cash to provide funds for the expansion of the Group’s operations. The issued 

shares rank pari passu in all respects with previously issued shares.

4. RETAINED EARNINGS/(ACCUMULATED LOSSES)

Company
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

At the beginning of the year (630) (150)

Loss for the year (694) (480)

At the end of the year (1,324) (630)
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment with net carrying amount of approximately $72,401,000 (2009: 
$41,731,000) are pledged as security for term loans (Note 17).

Machinery and equipment with net carrying amount of approximately $4,378,000 (2009: 
$4,732,000) were acquired under finance leases.

The borrowing costs capitalised as cost of vessels-in-construction during the financial year ended 
30 September 2010 amounted to approximately $174,000 (2009: $170,000). The capitalisation 
rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was 7.2% (2009: 
7.2%)

6. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 4,320 4,320

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of companies Principal activities

Place of 
incorporation/

Place of business

Effective interest 
held by the Group

2010 2009
% %

Held by the Company
Marco Polo Shipping
 Co. Pte Ltd(1)

Ship chartering Singapore 100 100

Bina Marine Pte. Ltd.(1) Provision of contract 
services and trading 
activities

Singapore 100 100

MP Marine Pte. Ltd.(1) Investment holding Singapore 100 100

MP Ventures Pte. Ltd.(1) Investment holding Singapore 100 100

Held by subsidiaries
PT. Marcopolo Shipyard(2) Shipbuilding and ship 

repair
Indonesia 100 100

MP Shipping Pte. Ltd.(1) Ship chartering Singapore 100 100

PT Rio Mahkota Nusantara(2) Investment holding and 
property management

Indonesia 100 100

Marcopolo Shipping 
 (Hong Kong) Limited(2)

Investment holding Hong Kong 100 –

Marco Polo Offshore 
 Pte Ltd(1)

Ship chartering, leasing 
and management

Singapore 100 –

PT Marco Polo Indonesia(2) Management consultancy 
and marketing

Indonesia 100 –

(1) Audited by Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP, Singapore.

(2) Not required to be audited in the country of incorporation. However, they were audited by Crowe Horwath First Trust 

LLP, Singapore for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
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7. JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 354 250
Share of post-acquisition reserves 6,670 435
Share of translation reserves (361) –

6,663 685
Due from jointly controlled entities(1) 10,111 7,868

16,774 8,553

The details of the jointly controlled entities are as follows:

Effective interest 
held by the Group

2010 2009

Name of Company Principal Activities
Place of incorporation/

place of business % %

MPST Marine Pte. Ltd.

 (“MPST”)(2) Ship chartering services Singapore 50 50

Rig Tenders Offshore

 Pte Ltd(3) Ship chartering services Singapore 30 –

Alpine Marine Limited(4) Ship chartering services British Virgin Islands 50 –

(1) These non-trade balances are unsecured, interest free and are not expected to be repaid within the next 12 months.

(2) Audited by Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP, Singapore.

(3) Audited by Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP, Singapore for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements.

(4) Not required to be audited in the Country of incorporation. However, they were audited by Crowe Horwath First Trust 

LLP, Singapore for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s share of the jointly controlled entities’ results, assets and liabilities is as follows:

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets 5,604 24,828
Current assets 37,052 1,688
Current liabilities (22,530) (17,963)
Non-current liabilities (13,463) (7,868)

Net assets 6,663 685

Results
Revenue 10,507 2,897
Expenses (4,272) (2,520)

Profit after taxation 6,235 377
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7. JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES (cont’d)

Future capital expenditures

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Capital commitments:
– contracted for but not provided in relation to
  purchase of property, plant and equipment 6,440 –

8. INVENTORIES

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Balance sheet:
Raw materials 5,151 2,591
Spare parts and consumables 44 1,070

5,195 3,661

Income statement:
Inventories recognised as an expenses in cost of sales 15,483 23,501

Inventories of a subsidiary of approximately $375,000 (2009: $379,000) are pledged as security 

for term loans (Note 17).

9. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Non-related parties 4,846 3,458
Related parties 1,337 910
Jointly controlled entities 2,956 587
Allowance for impairment of trade receivables
 – non-related parties (Note 33 (c)) (158) (156)

8,981 4,799

10. DUE FROM/(TO) CUSTOMERS FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognised
 profits/(less recognised losses) to date 61,405 59,893
Less: Progress billings (48,976) (51,069)

12,429 8,824

Presented as:
Due from customers for construction contracts 12,429 10,329
Due to customers for construction contracts – (1,505)

12,429 8,824
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11. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Prepayments/deposits 

 paid for purchases of 

 spare parts, machineries 

 and engines – 4,382 – –

Deposits paid for

 purchase of vessels 392 2,710 – –

Related parties 1,477 – – –

Jointly controlled entity 61 – – –

Other receivables 594 317 – 6

Accrued revenue 209 – – –

Government grant 99 – – –

Other deposits 137 166 – 100

Prepayments 454 34 30 15

Interest receivable – 6 – –

3,423 7,615 30 121

Related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Government grant relates to grant from the government of Singapore under the Capability 

Development Scheme. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to this 

grant.

12. DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES (NON-TRADE)

These balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

13. TRADE PAYABLES

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Non-related parties 17,074 9,158

Related parties 3,725 1,700

Jointly controlled entity 281 831

Bill payables (unsecured) 3,146 9,505

24,226 21,194

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled within 30 to 90 days (2009: 

30 to 90 days).

Interest on bills payables was charged at the rate ranging from 5.3% to 6% (2009: 3% to 6%) 

per annum.
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14. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deposits received for

 sale of vessels 665 11,013 – –

Advances from customers 6,192 6,138 – –

Accruals 3,151 2,050 205 104

Deferred income 353 217 – –

Other payables 98 110 55 33

10,459 19,528 260 137

Deferred income represents ship chartering revenue received in advance and is non-

refundable.

Other payables includes staff and subcontractors’ income tax withheld amounting to IDR 

131,311,441 (2009: IDR 131,878,529) or equivalent to $19,019 (2009: $19,228) for payment to 

Indonesia tax department.

15. BORROWINGS – INTEREST BEARING

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current liabilities
Lease obligations (Note 16) 1,198 1,066 – –

Term loans (Note 17) 12,783 22,929 682 647

13,981 23,995 682 647

Non-current liabilities
Lease obligations (Note 16) 1,134 2,066 – –

Term loans (Note 17) 30,793 24,810 416 1,098

31,927 26,876 416 1,098

Total borrowings
Lease obligations (Note 16) 2,332 3,132 – –

Term loans (Note 17) 43,576 47,739 1,098 1,745

45,908 50,871 1,098 1,745
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16. LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Group
Minimum lease 

payments Interest
Present value of 

payments
$’000 $’000 $’000

2010
Within one year 1,308 (110) 1,198
More than one year but not later than
 five years 1,174 (40) 1,134

2,482 (150) 2,332

2009
Within one year 1,226 (160) 1,066
More than one year but not later than
 five years 2,186 (120) 2,066

3,412 (280) 3,132

Interest is payable at effective rate of 5.5% to 6.2% (2009: 5.3% to 6.1%) per annum.

17. TERM LOANS – SECURED

Bank loans
Effective

interest rate
Number of
instalments

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Fixed rate
#1 5.35% 48 – 48
#2 5.65% 16 (quarterly) 204 612
#3 6.75% 48 175 340
#4 5% 36 2,738 4,355
#5 5% 48 3,593 4,792
#24 5% 48 809 –

7,519 10,147

Floating rate
#6 786 822
#7 963 2,719
#8 2,500 2,500
#9 1,125 1,975
#10 3,521 7,420
#11 – 2,219
#12 910 2,628
#13 – 1,792
#14 – 2,331
#15 1,683 2,303
#16 – 10,883
#17 2,274 –
#18 2,526 –
#19 2,411 –
#20 2,514 –
#21 2,100 –
#22 900 –
#23 11,844 –

36,057 37,592

Total Term Loans – Secured 43,576 47,739
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17. TERM LOANS – SECURED (cont’d)

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Amount repayable:

Not later than one year 12,783 22,929

Later than one year and not later than five years 28,678 24,153

Later than five years 2,115 657

43,576 47,739

Loan #1

The loans are secured by a first mortgage over certain vessels, assignment of rights, earnings and 

benefits from charter agreements; assignment of insurance policies and a corporate guarantee 

provided by the Company.

Loan #1 with the additional loan granted by the bank (Loan #10), the Group shall maintain a net 

worth of not less than $30 million, while the subsidiary company (borrower) shall maintain a net 

worth of not less than $10 million. Net worth is defined as the sum of paid up capital, revenue 

reserves and loans from directors and shareholders. The Group shall maintain a maximum loan 

to security ratio of 70% at all times. This bank loan was fully repaid during the financial year.

Loan #2

The loans are secured by a first mortgage over certain vessels and joint and several guarantees 

by certain directors of the Group, assignment of rights, earnings and benefits from charter 

agreements and insurance policies. The Group shall maintain a minimum net worth of $4 million 

and a maximum debt to equity ratio of 2.5:1.

Loan #3

The loan is secured by a first legal mortgage over certain vessels, joint and several guarantees 

by certain directors of the Group. The loan is for the purchase of one vessel amounting to $0.64 

million and was fully drawdown on October 2007 and repayable in 48 monthly instalments.

Loan #4

The loan was a working capital loan amounting to $5 million and interest was charged at 5% per 

annum on monthly rests basis. It is repayable in 36 monthly instalments and is secured by the 

existing corporate guarantee from Marco Polo Shipping Co Pte Ltd and the Company.

Loan #5

The loan was a working capital loan amounting to $5 million and interest was charged at 5% 

per annum on monthly rests basis. It is repayable in 48 monthly instalments and is secured by 

the existing corporate guarantee provided by the Company. The Group shall not create to arise 

any other debenture, mortgage, charges, other than in respect of any security granted to the 

bank. The subsidiary company (borrower) shall maintain an adjusted net worth of not less than 

$10 million and the Group shall maintain a net worth of not less than $30 million.
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17. TERM LOANS – SECURED (cont’d)

Loan #6

The loan is secured by a first legal mortgage over freehold office building and corporate 

guarantee provided by the Company. Interest is charged at a fixed rate of 2.70% per annum 

with monthly rest with effect from 16 June 2010, 1.77% per annum below prevailing Commercial 

Property Rate (“CPR”) with monthly rest for the second year and 1.17% per annum below CPR 

with monthly rest thereafter. The loan is repayable over 20 years commencing from June 

2006.

In the event that the total amount outstanding under the facility exceeds 88% of the average 

external and internal of the market value of the freehold office building, the said bank is entitled 

to reduce the credit limit and require repayment of such amount and additional security to be 

furnished.

Loan #7

The Group was granted loans amounting to $4,896,512 from bank to finance the purchase of six 
vessels. Interest charged is at 1.375% per annum above the bank’s prime rate on monthly rest, 
is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by legal mortgage over the vessels, 
assignment of insurance policies and charter earnings, and corporate guarantee provided by 
the Company.

Loan #8

This revolving loan is obtained for the shipyard’s working capital. Interest is charged at 6.5% 
per annum subject to monthly revised interest rate, is due for roll-over on 28 December 2010 
and secured by certain plant and equipment (current and future) and certain inventories of a 
subsidiary, guarantees of certain directors of the Group and related parties, and assignment of 
insurance policies in respect of the above assets secured.

Loan #9

The loan was obtained for the shipyard’s working capital. Interest is charged at 7% per annum 
subject to monthly revised interest rate and the loan is repayable over 20 quarterly instalments 
as follow:

$
1st to 4th quarter 100,000 of each quarter

5th to 8th quarter 150,000 of each quarter

9th to 12th quarter 175,000 of each quarter

13th to 20th quarter 225,000 of each quarter

The loan is secured by certain plant and equipment (current and future) and certain inventories 
of a subsidiary, guarantee of certain directors of the Group and related parties, and assignment 
of insurance policies in respect of the above assets secured.
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17. TERM LOANS – SECURED (cont’d)

Loan #10

The Group was granted loans amounting to $13.3 million from the bank to finance the purchase 
of fourteen vessels. Interest charged is at 0.75% per annum above the bank’s prime rate on 
monthly rest, is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by legal mortgage over 
the vessels, assignment of insurance policies and charter earnings, and a corporate guarantee 
from the Company. As with Loan #1, the Group shall maintain a net worth of not less than $30 
million, while the subsidiary company (borrower) shall maintain a net worth of not less than 
$10 million. Net worth is defined as the sum of paid up capital, revenue reserves and loans from 
directors and shareholders. The Group shall maintain a maximum loan to security ratio of 70% 
at all times.

Loan #11

The Group was granted loans amounting to $3.135 million from the bank to finance the purchase 
of four vessels. Interest charged is at 0.25% per annum above the bank’s prime rate on monthly 
rest, is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by legal mortgage over the vessels, 
assignment of insurance policies and charter earnings, and a corporate guarantee from the 
Company. This loan was fully repaid during the financial year.

Loan #12

The Group was granted loans amounting to $3.3 million in March 2008 from the bank to finance 

the purchase of four vessels. Interest charged is at 2.75% per annum above the bank’s Cost of 

Funds, is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by legal mortgage over the 

vessels, assignment of insurance policies and charter earnings, and a corporate guarantee from 

the Company.

For loans #11 and #12, the Group shall at all times maintain a maximum Gearing Ratio (defined 

as Total Liabilities/Total Net Worth) of not more than two times and shall maintain a minimum 

Net Worth (defined as sum of paid-up capital, revenue reserves and capital reserves) of at least 

$10 million.

Loan #13

The Group was granted loans amounting to $2.887 million from a financial institution to finance 

the purchase of two vessels. The loan is secured by a first legal mortgage over the vessels and 

a corporate guarantee provided by the Company. Interest is charged at 1.75% per annum above 

Singapore prime lending rates. The loan is repayable in 48 monthly instalments with interest 

calculated based on monthly reducing balance. This loan was fully repaid during the financial 

year.
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17. TERM LOANS – SECURED (cont’d)

Loan #14

The Group was granted loans amounting to $2.92 million in March 2009 from a financial 

institution to finance the purchase of two vessels. The loan is secured by a first legal mortgage 

over the vessels and a corporate guarantee by the Company. Interest is charged at 0.67% per 

annum above Singapore prime lending rates. The loan is repayable in 48 monthly instalments 

with interest calculated based on monthly reducing balance. This loan was fully repaid during 

the financial year.

Loan #15

The Group was granted loans amounting to $2.478 million from a bank to finance the purchase 

of two vessels. The loan is secured by a first legal mortgage over the vessels. Interest is charged 

at 2.50% per annum over the bank’s prevailing Cost of Funds on monthly rest, is repayable 

over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of 

insurance policies and charter earnings, and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company. 

The Group shall maintain a consolidated adjusted tangible net worth of not less than $25 million 

at all times and a consolidated adjusted leverage of below 2.5 at all times.

Adjusted tangible net worth is defined as Book Net Worth minus intangibles minus loans due 

from directors/shareholders/related parties (non trade) plus loans due to directors/shareholders/

related parties (non trade).

Adjusted leverage is defined as total liabilities minus directors/shareholders/related company 

debts (non trade) divided by adjusted net worth.

Loan #16

The Group was granted a loan amounting to $11 million in May 2009 from a bank to finance 
the construction of one vessel of which $10,882,865 was drawdown. The loan is secured by an 
assignment of builder’s insurance, assignment of irrevocable Letter of Credit of USD10.85 million 
and a corporate guarantee by the Company. Interest is charged at 4% per annum over cost of 
funds. The loan is repayable on 30 September 2009 or delivery of vessel, via proceeds from 
irrevocable Letter of Credit of USD10.85 million issued by ultimate buyer. This loan was fully 
repaid during the financial year.

Loan #17

The Group was granted loans amounting to $2.760 million from a financial institution to finance 
65% of the purchase of four vessels which were fully drawdown during the financial year. The 
loan has been partially settled during current financial year. Interest charged is at 0.25% per 
annum above their base lending rate prevailing from time to time, calculated on a monthly basis. 
It is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by first legal all monies mortgage over 
the vessels, assignment of insurance policies, and a corporate guarantee from the Company.
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17. TERM LOANS – SECURED (cont’d)

Loan #18

The Group was granted loans amounting to $3.185 million from a financial institution to finance 
65% of the purchase of four vessels which were fully drawdown during the financial year. The 
loan has been partially settled during current financial year. Interest charged is at 0.125% per 
annum below their base lending rate prevailing from time to time, calculated on a monthly basis. 
It is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by first legal all monies mortgage over 
the vessels, assignment of insurance policies, and a corporate guarantee from the Company.

Loan #19

The Group was granted loans amounting to $2.786 million from a bank to finance the purchase 
of two vessels which were fully drawdown during the financial year. The loan has been partially 
settled during current financial year. Interest charged is at 3.7% per annum above the bank’s 
Cost of Fund on monthly rest, is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by first 
legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of insurance policies and charter earnings, and a 
corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

Loan #20

The Group was granted loans amounting to $2.873 million from a bank to finance 65% of the 
purchase of four vessels which were fully drawdown during the financial year. The loan has been 
partially settled during current financial year. Interest charged is at 3.00% per annum above the 
bank’s Cost of Fund on monthly rest, is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is secured 
by first legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of insurance policies and charter contracts 
and earnings, and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

The Group shall maintain a net worth of not less than $50 million, while the subsidiary company 
(borrower) shall maintain a net worth of not less than $15 million. Net worth is defined as the 
sum of paid up capital, revenue reserves and capital reserve.

The Group shall at all times maintain a maximum Gearing Ratio (defined as Total Liabilities/Total 
Net Worth) of not more than two times.

Loan #21

The Group was granted loans amounting to $2.856 million from a bank to finance 70% of the 

purchase of four vessels of which $2.191 million was drawdown. The loan has been partially 

settled during current financial year. Interest charged is at 3.00% per annum above the SIBOR 

on monthly rest, is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by first legal mortgage 

over the vessels, assignment of insurance policies and charter contracts and earnings, and a 

corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

The Group shall maintain a net worth of not less than $55 million, while the subsidiary company 

(borrower) shall maintain a net worth of not less than $20 million. Net worth is defined as 

the sum of paid up capital, revenue reserves, retained earnings and loans from directors and 

shareholders. The Group shall maintain a maximum loan to security ratio of 70% at all times.
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17. TERM LOANS – SECURED (cont’d)

Loan #22

The Group was granted loans amounting to $3.172 million from a bank to finance 70% of the 
purchase of four vessels of which $0.9 million was drawdown. Interest charged is at 3.00% 
per annum above the SIBOR on monthly rest, is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is 
secured by first legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of insurance policies and charter 
contracts and earnings, and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

The Group shall maintain a net worth of not less than $55 million, while the subsidiary company 
(borrower) shall maintain a net worth of not less than $20 million. Net worth is defined as 
the sum of paid up capital, revenue reserves, retained earnings and loans from directors and 
shareholders. The Group shall maintain a maximum loan to security ratio of 70% at all times.

Loan #23

The Group was granted loans amounting to USD28 million from a financial institution to finance 
the construction and purchase of two AHTS of which USD9 million was drawdown. Interest 
charged is at about 4.5% per annum above 3-month LIBOR on monthly basis during the 
construction period. The loan is secured by a lien in all vessel materials and work in progress 
during the construction period, assignment of the construction agreement. The loan will be 
payable over 84 months quarterly after it has been converted to Term Loan.

The Group shall maintain a minimum equity of USD50 million and Total Liabilities/Tangible Net 
Worth less than 5.5:1, while the subsidiary company (borrower) shall maintain a minimum equity 
of USD15 million and Total Liabilities/Tangible Net Worth less than 3.0:1. Net Worth is defined 
as the sum of paid up capital, revenue reserves, retained earnings and loans from directors and 
shareholders. The Group shall maintain a maximum loan to security ratio of 70% at all times.

Loan #24

The working capital loan is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and interest is charged at 
5% per annum with monthly rest. The loan is secured by the existing corporate guarantee from 
the Company.

All loans granted to the Group by the directors, shareholders, holding companies and related 
parties shall be subordinated under the term of loans #2, #10, #12, #15, #20, #21 and #22.

18. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

At beginning of the year 277 –

Charged to profit or loss (Note 25) 55 277

At end of the year 332 277

The deferred tax liabilities in the book arise from excess of net book value over the tax written 

down value of plant and equipment.
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19. REVENUE

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Ship chartering 32,448 26,898

Shipyard 31,823 27,645

64,271 54,543

20. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6,091 –

Interest income on bank balances and fixed deposits 110 23

Government grant received 33 –

Retainer fee 111 –

Rental income 6 –

Sundry income 505 498

6,856 521

21. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Depreciation 950 965

Equipment maintenances and expenses 403 398

Upkeep of leasehold land 396 132

Bank charges 189 72

Tools and workshop maintenance 174 115

Licence/permits and certificates/survey expenses 156 120

Legal and professional fees 274 170

Compensation of termination of contract – 425

Others 1,714 386

4,256 2,783
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22. PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses 3,684 2,797

Contributions to defined contribution plan 154 105

Directors’ fee of the Company 187 103

Directors’ remuneration

 – directors of the Company 1,078 869

 – directors of the subsidiaries 49 52

Other staff costs 20 6

5,172 3,932

Personnel expenses include the amounts shown as Directors’ remuneration in Note 29 to the 

financial statements.

23. FINANCE COSTS

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Interest on:

– term loans 1,831 1,664

– bill payables 182 425

– bank overdraft 368 68

– lease obligations 167 215

2,548 2,372

24. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

This is determined after charging/(crediting) the following:

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Allowance/(write back) for impairment of trade receivables, net 13 (456)

Depreciation and amortisation (Note 5) 6,647 5,326

Foreign exchange loss – net 700 1

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (6,091) 11

Operating lease expenses 65 84

Personnel expenses* (Note 22) 5,172 3,932

Property, plant and equipment written off 73 33

* This includes the amount shown as directors’ remuneration.
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25. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Major components of income tax expense for the financial year ended 30 September were:

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Current income tax

 – current year 854 190

 – under/(over) provision in prior year 80 (99)

Deferred income tax

 – current year (Note 18) 55 277

989 368

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Profit before income tax 20,108 10,430

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 17% 3,418 1,773

Different tax rates in other countries 515 232

Tax exemption (990) (439)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 240 137

Income not subject to tax (2,122) (1,042)

Utilisation of prior year tax losses (152) (194)

Under/(over) provision of current tax in respect of prior year 80 (99)

Tax expense 989 368

The Group’s ship chartering operations were recently awarded the Approved International 

Shipping Enterprise (“AIS”) status by the Maritime and Port Authority of Singapore. Pursuant 

to the AIS status, the Group will enjoy tax exemption with effect from 1 April 2010 on qualifying 

shipping income, including incomes derived from foreign-flagged ships which were taxed 

previously.

26. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculations of earnings per share are based on the profits and numbers of shares shown 

below.

Basic Diluted
2010 2009 2010 2009

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit, net of tax 
 attributable to the 
 equity holder of the 
 Company 19,119 10,062 19,119 10,062
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26. EARNINGS PER SHARE (cont’d)

Weighted average number of shares

Number of shares
2010 2009

For basic earnings per share 305,750,000 291,613,014

For diluted earnings per share 305,750,000 291,613,014

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to the equity 

holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 

the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year from continuing 

operations, net of tax, attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number 

of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year plus the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary 

shares into ordinary shares.

As there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares issued and/or granted, diluted earnings per 

share is the same as basic earnings per share.

27. PURCHASE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the financial year, the Group made the following cash payments to purchase property, 

plant and equipment:

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note 5) 60,105 61,368
Financed by lease obligations (375) (1,213)

Cash payments on purchase of property, plant and
 equipment 59,730 60,155

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fixed deposits 7,441 3,579 3,493 3,579
Cash and bank balances 16,197 8,919 83 4,803
Bank overdraft (7,401) – (91) –

16,237 12,498 3,485 8,382
Less: Pledged fixed
 deposits and cash (12,418) (3,579) (3,493) (3,579)

Cash and cash equivalents
 as stated in the 
 statement of cash flows 3,819 8,919 (8) 4,803



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 September 2010
(Amounts in thousands of Singapore dollars unless otherwise stated)

76 Marco Polo Marine Ltd
Annual Report 2010

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (cont’d)

Fixed deposits and cash of $12,418,000 (2009: $3,579,000) are pledged in connection with a 

bank guarantee granted by a bank to the Company. The fixed deposits will mature within 12 

months from the financial year end. Interest rates range from 0.05% to 0.20% (2009: 0.05% to 

2.68%) per annum.

Bank overdraft is denominated in Singapore Dollars, bears effective interest rates at 5% per 

annum and secured by fixed deposits and cash of $12,418,000.

29. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Some of the arrangements with related parties (as defined in the Notes above) and the effects of 

these bases determined between the parties are reflected elsewhere in this report. The balances 

due from/to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Transaction 

between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related companies of the Company have 

been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this Note. Details of transactions 

between the Group and other related companies are disclosed below.

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Income
Charter income charged to related parties 6,525 11,010
Repair income charged to related parties 516 906

Cost and expenses
Crew supply fees charged by a related party – 765
Ship agency fees charged by a related party 1,593 205
Charter fees charged by a related party 4,324 1,914
Charter fees charged by a jointly controlled entity 286 –
Purchases of concrete mix and spare parts from related
 parties 275 2,753
Procurement fee charged by a related party – 43
Interest paid to a related party – 41

Others
Purchase of equipment and machinery from a related party – 180
Sales of vessels to a related party 26,100 –
Sales of vessels to a jointly controlled entity 8,273 22,280
Advances to a jointly controlled entity – 903

Key management personnel compensation
Salaries and bonuses 1,148 1,318
Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans 41 50
Directors’ fees 187 103

1,376 1,471

The remuneration of directors and key management is determined by the remuneration 

committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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30. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

(a) Contingent assets

On 14 July 2008, a shipping customer commenced an arbitration proceeding with the 
Singapore International Arbitration Centre against a subsidiary of the Company, Marco Polo 
Shipping Co Pte Ltd (“MPS”) in relation to certain charter party disputes. The customer 
claimed a total of USD731,826 (or approximately $1,038,000) plus interest and costs of 
the arbitration amount to USD923,846 (or approximately $1,310,000). The bank guarantee 
issued is secured by deposits placed with the bank.

On 1 November 2010, MPS received a tribunal award to dismiss all claims from the customer 
and award the following to MPS:

(a) the sum of USD733,000 to be received from the customer;

(b) immediate return of the bank guarantee for cancellation; and

(c) reimbursement of costs of arbitration and legal costs incurred by MPS.

(b) Corporate guarantees

The Company has given the following corporate guarantees in respect of banking facilities 
of subsidiaries utilised as at balance sheet date:

Company
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Term loans-secured 38,473 40,567

Lease obligations 2,332 3,132

Trade facilities – 12,006

40,805 55,705

The directors have assessed the fair value of the financial guarantees issued to external 
banks which have no material financial impact on the results and the accumulated profits 
of the Company and therefore not recognised for the financial year ended 30 September 
2010 and 30 September 2009.

(c) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

The Group has operating lease agreement for equipment and it contain renewable options. 
Lease terms do not contain restrictions on the Group’s activities concerning dividends, 
additional debt or further leasing.

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Future minimum lease payments

– not later than one year 119 2

– one year through five years 152 1

271 3
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30. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (cont’d)

(c) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments (cont’d)

The Group sub-lease out of its freehold building to a tenant under operating lease. The 

lease is for a period of 3 years. Lease payments are revised at renewal of lease contract 

to reflect market rental. The lease does not include contingent rental. The non-cancellable 

operating lease rental receivable is as follows:

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Future minimum lease payments

– not later than one year 98 –

– one year through five years 188 –

286 –

(d) Future capital expenditures

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Capital commitments:

– contracted for but not provided 27,813 9,468

– authorised but not contracted for 6,409 –

34,222 9,468

31. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group adopted FRS108, Operating Segments, with effect from 1 October 2009 and identified 

the operating segments as describe below, which are the Group’s Strategic business units.

(i) Ship chartering – Relates to charter hire activities

(ii) Shipyard – Relates to ship building and ship repair activities

Performance is measured based on segment profit before income tax and is regularly reviewed 

by the chief operating officer. Segment profit is used to measure performance as management 

believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments 

relative to other entities that operate within these business environments. Inter-segment pricing 

is determined on an arm’s length basis.

Segment profit before tax represents operating revenue less expenses. Corporate expenses 

represent the cost of Group function not allocated to the reportable segments.
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31. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

Segment assets represent assets directly managed by each segment, and primarily include 

receivables, property, plant and equipment.

Segment liabilities represent liabilities directly managed by each segment, and primarily include 

payables and financial liabilities.

The comparative figures for the corresponding financial year ended 30 September 2009 were 

restated to be consistent with the current year’s presentation.

 
Operating segments

The Group
Ship 

Chartering Shipyard
Segment 

Total Elimination

Unallocated/
Corporate 
Expenses

Group 
Total

2010 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue
External revenue 32,448 31,823 64,271 – – 64,271
Inter-segment
 revenue 139 45,614 45,753 (45,753) – –

Total reportable
 segment revenue 32,587 77,437 110,024 (45,753) – 64,271

Interest income 66 32 98 – 12 110
Interest expense (1,441) (1,153) (2,594) 174 (128) (2,548)
Depreciation &
 amortisation (3,479) (3,168) (6,647) – – (6,647)
Reportable segment
 profit before tax 8,797 7,649 16,446 (1,704) (869) 13,873

Share of profit in
 jointly controlled
 entities 6,235 – 6,235 – – 6,235

Other material 
 non-cash items
Gain on disposal of 
 property, plant 
 and equipment 6,091 – 6,091 – – 6,091

Reportable segment 
 assets 100,534 71,016 171,550 (11,706) 4,614 164,458

Investment in 
 jointly controlled
 entities 16,774 – 16,774 – – 16,774

Capital expenditure* 58,907 1,198 60,105 – – 60,105

Reportable segment
 liabilities 65,332 67,416 132,748 (45,665) 2,253 89,336

* The amount includes capital expenditure acquired by lease obligation amounting to $375,000.
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31. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

Operating segments (cont’d)

The Group
Ship 

Chartering Shipyard
Segment 

Total Elimination

Unallocated/
Corporate 
Expenses

Group
Total

2009 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue
External revenue 26,898 27,645 54,543 – – 54,543
Inter-segment
 revenue 124 42,603 42,727 (42,727) – –

Total reportable
 segment revenue 27,022 70,248 97,270 (42,727) – 54,543

Interest income 1 2 3 – 20 23
Interest expense (1,347) (1,075) (2,422) 170 (120) (2,372)
Depreciation &
 amortisation (2,805) (2,521) (5,326) – – (5,326)

Reportable segment 
 profit before tax 8,258 2,036 10,294 246 (487) 10,053

Share of profit in a
 jointly controlled
 entity 377 – 377 – – 377

Other material 
 non-cash items
Loss on disposal of 
 property, plant 
 and equipment (11) – (11) – – (11)

Reportable segment 
 assets 93,959 77,733 171,692 (22,960) 9,534 158,266

Investment in a
 jointly controlled
 entity 8,553 – 8,553 – – 8,553

Capital expenditure* 50,793 10,575 61,368 – – 61,368

Reportable segment
 liabilities 71,128 75,884 147,012 (60,273) 6,940 93,679

* The amount includes capital expenditure acquired by lease obligation amounting to $1,213,000.
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31. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

Geographical information

The Group operates mainly in Singapore and Indonesia, with Singapore and Indonesia (as well 

as to a lesser extent other regional countries in South East Asia) being its major markets for 

shipping activities and Indonesia (principally the shipyard at Batam) as its major market for ship 

building and repair activities.

Revenues from the external customers of the Group were derived based on the country of origin 

of the customers and not the destination for the delivery of the Group’s chartering services or 

built vessels.

Non-current assets (other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets) of the Group were 

spread across Singapore (being the Company’s country of domicile) and Indonesia in which the 

Group holds its assets.

The Group
Singapore Indonesia Others Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2010
Revenue 26,243 23,238 14,790 64,271
Non – current assets 101,886 25,680 – 127,566

2009
Revenue 32,210 14,770 7,563 54,543

Non – current assets 100,602 27,315 – 127,917

32. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The significant subsequent events that arose after 30 September 2010 are as follows:

(a) The Company issued 35,000,000 new ordinary shares at $0.43 per share for cash on 11 

October 2010 pursuant to a placement exercise (the “Placement”). These shares rank pari 
passu in all respect with the existing ordinary shares of the Company.

(b) On 12 November 2010, the Group through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Marco Polo Offshore 

Pte Ltd entered into two Memorandum of Agreements to acquire two utility vessels for a 

total consideration of AUD21.5 million in cash.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 September 2010
(Amounts in thousands of Singapore dollars unless otherwise stated)

82 Marco Polo Marine Ltd
Annual Report 2010

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Categories of financial instruments

The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the statement of financial position 

date:

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets 35,588 17,786 40,448 45,820

Financial Liabilities 80,784 74,225 1,449 6,112

The Group has documented financial risk management policies. These policies set out the 

Group’s overall business strategies and its risk management philosophy. The Group’s overall 

financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of financial 

performance of the Group. The Board of Directors provides written principles for overall financial 

risk management and written policies covering specific areas, such as market risk (including 

foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and equity price risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. 

Such written policies are reviewed annually by the Board of Directors and periodic reviews are 

undertaken to ensure that the Group’s policy guidelines are complied with. Risk management is 

carried out by the Board of Directors.

It is the Group’s policy not to trade in derivative contracts.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of 

a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Group also sells its products/services in several countries and for such overseas 

sales, it transacts mainly in United States dollars (“USD”) and Indonesian Rupiah. As a 

result, movements in USD and Indonesian Rupiah exchange rates are the main foreign 

exchange risk which the Group is exposed to. Transaction risk is calculated in each 

foreign currency and includes foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities 

and probable purchases and sales commitments. The Group has not entered into 

any derivative instruments for hedging or trading purposes.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a) Market risk (cont’d)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (cont’d)

Group As at 
30 September 2010

Singapore 
Dollar

United 
States 
Dollar Euro

Indonesian 
Rupiah Others Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Trade receivables 7,050 1,931 – – – 8,981

Other receivables

 and deposits 2,442 61 – 466 – 2,969

Fixed deposits – 7,441 – – – 7,441

Cash and bank 

 balances 1,175 14,922 – 100 – 16,197

10,667 24,355 – 566 – 35,588

Financial liabilities
Trade payables 23,073 842 – 311 – 24,226

Bank overdraft 7,401 – – – – 7,401

Borrowings

 – interest bearing 34,064 11,844 – – – 45,908

Other financial 

 liabilities 3,022 64 – 162 1 3,249

67,560 12,750 – 473 1 80,784

Net financial assets/

 (liabilities) (56,893) 11,605 – 93 (1) (45,196)

Less: Net financial 

 liabilities 

 denominated in 

 their respective 

 functional 

 currencies 56,893 – – (93) – 56,800

Net foreign currency 

 exposure – 11,605 – – (1) 11,604
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a) Market risk (cont’d)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (cont’d)

Group As at 
30 September 2009

Singapore 
Dollar

United 
States 
Dollar Euro

Indonesian 
Rupiah Others Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Trade receivables 3,206 1,580 – 13 – 4,799

Other receivables

 and deposits 412 11 – 66 – 489

Fixed deposits 2,851 728 – – – 3,579

Cash and bank

 balances 2,725 6,106 – 88 – 8,919

9,194 8,425 – 167 – 17,786

Financial liabilities
Trade payables 14,292 1,810 4,698 377 17 21,194

Borrowings

 – interest bearing 50,871 – – – – 50,871

Other financial

 liabilities 499 – – 1,661 – 2,160

65,662 1,810 4,698 2,038 17 74,225

Net financial assets/

 (liabilities) (56,468) 6,615 (4,698) (1,871) (17) (56,439)

Less: Net financial 

 liabilities

 denominated in

 their respective

 functional

 currencies 56,468 – – 1,871 – 58,339

Net foreign currency 

 exposure – 6,615 (4,698) – (17) 1,900
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a) Market risk (cont’d)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (cont’d)

Company
As at 30 September 2010

Singapore
Dollar

United States 
Dollar Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 36,872 – 36,872
Fixed deposits – 3,493 3,493
Cash and bank balances 67 16 83

36,939 3,509 40,448

Financial liabilities
Bank overdraft 91 – 91
Borrowings – interest bearing 1,098 – 1,098
Other financial liabilities 260 – 260

1,449 – 1,449

Net financial assets 35,490 3,509 38,999

Less: Net financial assets
 denominated in their respective
 functional currencies (35,490) – (35,490)

Net foreign currency exposure – 3,509 (3,509)

Company
As at 30 September 2009

Singapore
Dollar

United States 
Dollar Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 37,332 – 37,332
Fixed deposits 2,851 728 3,579
Cash and bank balances 569 4,234 4,803
Other financial assets 106 – 106

40,858 4,962 45,820

Financial liabilities
Due to subsidiary (non-trade) 4,230 – 4,230
Borrowings – interest bearing 1,745 – 1,745
Other financial liabilities 137 – 137

6,112 – 6,112

Net financial assets 34,746 4,962 39,708

Less: Net financial assets 
 denominated in their respective 
 functional currencies (34,746) – (34,746)

Net foreign currency exposure – 4,962 4,962
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a) Market risk (cont’d)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (cont’d)

Foreign exchange risk sensitivity

The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the 

Singapore dollar against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate 

used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel 

and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange 

rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated 

monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in 

foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans 

to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a 

currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower.

A 10% strengthening of Singapore dollar against the relevant foreign currencies at 

the reporting date would increase/(decrease) profit or loss by the amounts shown 

below.

For the financial year ended 
30 September 2010

United States 
Dollar Euro Others
$’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Profit or loss net of tax (1,161) – –

Company
Profit or loss net of tax (351) – –

For the financial year ended 
30 September 2009

United States 
Dollar Euro Others
$’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Profit or loss net of tax (662) 470 2

Company
Profit or loss net of tax (496) – –

A 10% weakening of Singapore dollar against the above currencies would have 

had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown 

above.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a) Market risk (cont’d)

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group obtains additional financing through bank borrowings and finance 

institutions.

The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available without 

increasing its foreign currency exposure. The Group constantly monitors its interest 

rate risk and does not utilise forward contracts or other arrangements for trading or 

speculative purposes. As at 30 September 2010, there were no such arrangements, 

interest rate swap contracts or other derivative instruments outstanding.

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s financial 

instruments, that are exposed to interest rate risk:

2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Group
Within one year – fixed rates
Term loans – secured 3,585 3,432

Lease obligations 1,198 1,066

Within one year – floating rates
Term loans – secured 9,198 19,497

Bank overdraft – secured 7,401 –

More than one year – fixed rates
Term loans – secured 3,934 6,715

Lease obligations 1,134 2,066

More than one year – floating rates
Term loans – secured 26,859 18,095

Company
Within one year – fixed rates
Term loans – secured 682 647

Within one year – floating rates
Bank overdraft – secured 91 –

More than one year – fixed rates
Term loans – secured 416 1,098
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a) Market risk (cont’d)

(ii) Interest rate risk (cont’d)

Interest in financial instruments subject to floating interest rates is repriced regularly. 

Interests on financial instruments at fixed rates are fixed until the maturity of the 

instruments. The other financial instruments of the Group that are not included in 

the above table are subject to minimum interest rate risks.

Interest risk sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to 

interest rates for active instruments at the statement of financial position date and 

the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held 

constant throughout the reporting periods in the case of instruments that have 

floating rates. A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest 

rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s 

assessment of the possible change in interest rates.

If the interest rates had been 1% higher or lower and all other variables were held 

constant, the Group’s profit for the financial year ended 30 September 2010 would 

increase/decrease by $435,000 (2009: $376,000). This is mainly attributable to the 

Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rates borrowings.

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and bank balances 

deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations and to mitigate the 

effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash 

on demand to meet expected operational expenses including the servicing of financial 

obligations.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative financial 

liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial 

liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group and Company can be required 

to pay.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

Group

On demand or 
within 1 year

Within 2 to 
5 years

After
5 years Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

As at 30 September 2010
Trade payables 24,226 – – 24,226

Borrowings – interest bearing 13,981 29,812 2,115 45,908

Bank overdraft 7,401 – – 7,401

Other financial liabilities 10,459 – – 10,459

56,067 29,812 2,115 87,994

As at 30 September 2009
Trade payables 21,194 – – 21,194

Borrowings – interest bearing 23,995 26,219 657 50,871

Other financial liabilities 2,160 – – 2,160

47,349 26,219 657 74,225

Company

On demand or 
within 1 year

Within 2 to 
5 years

After
5 years Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

As at 30 September 2010
Borrowings – interest bearing 682 416 – 1,098

Bank overdraft 91 – – 91

Other financial liabilities 260 – – 260

1,033 416 – 1,449

As at 30 September 2009
Due to a subsidiary

 (non-trade) 4,230 – – 4,230

Borrowings – interest bearing 647 1,098 – 1,745

Other financial liabilities 137 – – 137

5,014 1,098 – 6,112
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(c) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations 

resulting in financial loss to the Group. For trade receivables, the Group adopts the policy 

of dealing only with customers of appropriate credit history, and obtaining sufficient 

security where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other financial assets, the Group 

adopts the policy of dealing only with high credit quality counterparties. The counterparty’s 

payment profile and credit exposure are continuously monitored at the entity level by the 

respective management and at the Group level by the Group Financial Controller.

The Group’s trade receivables comprises of 54 debtors (2009: 48 debtors) that individually 

represents approximately 1% to 30% (2009: 1% to 13%) of trade receivables.

As the Group and Company does not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit 

risk for each class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial 

instruments presented on the statement of financial position, except as follows:

2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Corporate guarantees provided to banks and financial

 institutions on subsidiaries’ borrowings 40,805 55,705

The Group’s major classes of financial assets are bank deposits and trade receivables. 

The credit risk for trade receivables, including trade amounts due from related parties 

and a jointly controlled entity, based on the information provided to key management is 

as follows:

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

By geographical areas

– Singapore 4,943 2,913

– Other countries 4,038 1,886

8,981 4,799

By types of customers

– Related parties 4,543 1,497

– Non-related parties 4,438 3,302

8,981 4,799
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(c) Credit risk (cont’d)

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables, including 

amount due from related parties and jointly controlled entity, represent the Group’s 

maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets. No other financial assets 

carry a significant exposure to credit risk.

Cash and bank balances are placed with reputable local financial institutions. Therefore, 

credit risk arises mainly from the inability of its customers to make payments when due. 

The amounts presented in the statement of financial position are net of allowances for 

impairment of receivables, estimated by management based on prior experience and the 

current economic environment.

The Group’s trade receivables are non interest bearing and are generally on 30 days term. 

They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on 

initial recognition.

The age analysis of trade receivables, including trade amounts due from related parties 

and a jointly controlled entity is as follows:

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Not past due and not impaired 6,037 2,702

Past due but not impaired

– Past due 0 to 3 months 2,944 1,420

– Past due 3 to 6 months – 677

2,944 2,097

Past due and impaired trade receivables 158 156

Less: Allowance for impairment loss (158) (156)

8,981 4,799

The movement in allowance for impairment loss is as follows:

Group
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of the year 156 613

Write back due to recovery of debts – (598)

Written off against allowance – (1)

Translation difference (11) –

Allowance made during the financial year 13 142

Balance at end of the year 158 156
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(c) Credit risk (cont’d)

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with total carrying amount 

of approximately $2,944,000 (2009: $2,097,000) which are past due but not impaired 

as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still 

considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

As other receivables are not significant, no detailed age analysis has been set out as 

above.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

A. Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are carried at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

Effective 1 January 2009, the Group adopted the amendment to FRS 107 which requires 

disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement 

hierarchy.

• Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities

• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 

for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from 

prices), and

• Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 

data (unobservable inputs)

As balance sheet date, there are no financial instruments in this category.

B. Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose 
carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value

Cash and bank balances, margin deposit with bank, current trade and other receivables 

and payables including, due from/(to) subsidiaries and borrowings (current).

The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation 

of fair values due to their short-term nature or that they are market interest rate instruments 

on or near the balance sheet date.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities (cont’d)

C. Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose 
carrying amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities by classed that are not carried at fair 

value and whose carrying amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value is as 

follows:

Group
2010 2009

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings

 (non-current)

 – Borrowing 30,793 30,606 24,810 24,511

 – Obligation under 

   finance lease 1,134 1,081 2,066 2,068

Determination of fair value

Borrowing and obligation under finance lease

The fair values as disclosed in the table above are estimated by discounting expected 

future cash flows at market incremental lending rate for similar types of lending, borrowing 

or leasing arrangements at the balance sheet date.

Capital risk management policies and objectives

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to 

continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the 

optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes borrowings disclosed 

in Note 15, cash and bank balances and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, 

comprising issued capital and retained earnings as disclosed in Notes 3 and 4.

The Board of Directors reviews the capital structure on an annual basis. As part of this 

review, the management considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each 

class of capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the Group will balance 

its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share 

buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2009.
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Issued and fully paid : S$59,239,118.03

Number of shares issued : 340,750,000 ordinary shares

Class of shares : Ordinary shares

Voting rights : One vote for one ordinary share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
NO. OF 

SHAREHOLDINGS %
NO. OF 
SHARES %

1 – 999 1 0.05 262 0.00
1,000 – 10,000 1,141 53.37 6,247,263 1.83

10,001 – 1,000,000 981 45.88 47,988,101 14.08
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 15 0.70 286,514,374 84.09

TOTAL: 2,138 100.00 340,750,000 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %

1. NAUTICAL INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD 178,057,374 52.25

2. HL BANK NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD 32,500,000 9.54

3. PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 14,918,000 4.38

4. HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 11,195,000 3.29

5. KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 10,949,000 3.21

6. CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 8,155,000 2.39

7. RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD 6,960,000 2.04

8. UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 6,646,000 1.95

9. ASDEW ACQUISITIONS PTE LTD 4,368,000 1.28

10. OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 3,483,000 1.02

11. HONG LEONG FINANCE NOMINEES PTE LTD 2,464,000 0.72

12. UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 2,215,000 0.65

13. CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 1,964,000 0.58

14. LOI WIN YEN 1,600,000 0.47

15. DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 1,040,000 0.31

16. LIM & TAN SECURITIES PTE LTD 764,000 0.22

17. LEE TECK KENG (LI DEQIN) 583,000 0.17

18. SOH HUOY TYNG JANNET 567,000 0.17

19. ROYAL BANK OF CANADA (ASIA) LTD 565,000 0.17

20. VICTORY FORCE LTD 500,000 0.15

TOTAL: 289,493,374 84.96



Statistics of Shareholdings
As at 15 December 2010

Marco Polo Marine Ltd
Annual Report 2010 95

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Direct Interest Deemed Interest
Name No of Shares % No. of Shares %

Nautical International Holdings Ltd 188,057,374(1) 55.19 – –
Lee Wan Tang – – 188,057,374(2) 55.19

Note:

(1) Nautical International Holdings Ltd is also the beneficial owner of 10,000,000 ordinary shares held by Philip Securities Pte Ltd.

(2) Mr Lee Wan Tang is deemed interest in the ordinary shares held by Nautical International Holdings Ltd.

Compliance with Rule 723 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual

Based on information available and to the best knowledge of the Company, as at 15 December 2010, 
approximately 44.52% of the ordinary shares of the Company are held by the public. The Company is 
therefore in compliance with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited.
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MARCO POLO MARINE LTD.
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

Company Registration No. 200610073Z

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fifth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 

Re!Union Function Room, Hotel Re! @ Pearl’s Hill, 175A Chin Swee Road Singapore 169879 on Friday, 

21 January 2011 at 10:30 a.m. to transact the following business:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year 
ended 30 September 2010 together with the reports of the Directors and the 
Auditors thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To re-elect the following directors who are retiring by rotation pursuant to 
Article 103 of the Articles of Association of the Company:

(i) Ms Lie Ly @ Liely Lee, (Resolution 2)

(ii) Mdm Sally @ Lai Qin Zhi. (Resolution 3)

Note:

Mdm Sally @ Lai Qin Zhi will, upon re-election as Director of the Company, 
remain as a member of the Audit Committee and will be considered independent 
pursuant to Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited. She will also remain as a member of the Nominating 
and Remuneration Committee.

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of S$187,000 for the financial year 
ending 30 September 2011. (2010: S$187,000) (Resolution 4)

4. To re-appoint Messrs Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP as Auditors of the 
Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration. (Resolution 5)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider, and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions (with or 
without amendments):

5. Authority to issue shares

“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and in 
accordance with Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited, approval be and is hereby given to the Directors 
to issue:

(i) shares in the capital of the Company (whether by way of rights, bonus 
or otherwise) or;

(ii) convertible securities; or

(iii) additional convertible securities arising from adjustments made to the 
number of convertible securities previously issued in the event of rights, 
bonus or capitalisation issues; or

(iv) shares arising from the conversion of convertible securities,
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at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the 
Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit provided that:

(i) the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities that may be 
issued shall not be more than 50% of the issued shares in the capital of 
the Company or such other limit as may be prescribed by the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) as at the date the 
general mandate is passed;

(ii) the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities to be issued 
other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders shall not be more 
than 20% of the issued shares in the capital of the Company or such 
other limit as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST as at the date the general 
mandate is passed;

(iii) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that 
may be issued under sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii) above, the percentage 
of issued shares shall be calculated based on the issued shares in the 
capital of the Company as at the date the general mandate is passed 
after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of 
any convertible securities or employee stock options in issue as at the 
date the general mandate is passed and any subsequent consolidation 
or subdivision of the Company’s shares; and

(iv) unless earlier revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, such 
authority shall continue in force until the next Annual General Meeting or 
the date by which the next Annual General Meeting is required by law to 
be held, whichever is earlier” [See Explanatory Note 1] (Resolution 6)

6. Proposed Renewal of the General Mandate for Interested Person 
Transactions

“That:

(a) Approval be and is hereby given for the renewal of the mandate for the 
purpose of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), for the Company, its subsidiaries 
and its associated companies, or any of them, to enter into any of the 
transactions falling within the types of Interested Person Transactions, as 
set out in the Appendix to the Annual Report (the “Appendix”), with any 
party who falls within the classes of Interested Persons as described in 
the Appendix and that such approval shall, unless revoked or varied by 
the Company in general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion 
of the next annual general meeting of the Company;

(b) the Audit Committee of the Company be and is hereby authorised to take 
such action as it deems proper in respect of procedures and to implement 
such procedures as may be necessary to take into consideration any 
amendment to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual which may be prescribed 
by the SGX-ST from time to time;

(c) the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete 
and do all such acts and things (including executing all such documents 
as may be required) as they may consider expedient or necessary or in 
the interest of the Company to give effect to this Resolution; and
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(d) such approval shall, unless earlier revoked or varied by the Company in 
general meeting, continue to be in force until the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company is held or is required by law to be held, 
whichever is earlier.” [See Explanatory Note 2] (Resolution 7)

By Order of the Board

Lawrence Kwan

Secretary

Singapore, 6 January 2011

Explanatory Notes on Resolutions to be transacted:

1. The Ordinary Resolution No. 6 in item 5 is to authorise the Directors of the Company to issue shares and convertible 

securities in the Company up to an amount not exceeding in aggregate 50% of the issued share capital of the 

Company of which the total number of shares and convertible securities issued other than on a pro-rata basis to 

existing shareholders shall not exceed 20% of the issued share capital of the Company at the time the resolution 

is passed, for such purposes as they consider would be in the interests of the Company. Rule 806(3) of the Listing 

Manual of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited currently provides that the issued share capital of the 

Company for this purpose shall be the issued share capital at the time this resolution is passed (after adjusting 

for new shares arising from the conversion of convertible securities or share options on issue at the time this 

resolution is passed and any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of the Company’s shares). This authority 

will, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

2. The Ordinary Resolution No. 7 in item 6, if passed, renews the General Mandate authorising the Directors of the Company 

to enter into certain interested person transactions with persons who are considered “interested persons” (as defined 

in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST).

Notes:

1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint one 

or two proxies to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the 

proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy.

3. A corporation which is a member of the Company may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing 

body, such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the meeting.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 11 Sims Drive 

#02-01 Singapore 387385 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the Annual General 

Meeting.
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IMPORTANT:
1. This Annual Report is also forwarded to 

investors who have used their CPF monies 
to buy shares in the Company at the request 
of their CPF Approved Nominees, and is sent 
solely for their information only. 

2. The Proxy Form is, therefore, not valid for use 
by CPF Investors and shall be ineffective for 
all intents and purposes if used or purported 
to be used by them.

I/We  (Name)

of  (Address)

being a member/ members of MARCO POLO MARINE LTD. hereby appoint:

Name Address
NRIC/

Passport Number
Proportion of 

Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address
NRIC/

Passport Number
Proportion of 

Shareholdings (%)

as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Fifth Annual General Meeting of 
the Company to be held at Re!Union Function Room, Hotel Re! @ Pearl’s Hill, 175A Chin Swee Road Singapore 169879 
on Friday, 21 January 2011 at 10:30 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for 
or against the resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting 
is given, the proxy/ proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion, as he/they will on any other matter 
arising at the Meeting.

Resolution 
No. Ordinary Business

To be used on a 
show of hands

To be used in the 
event of a poll

For* Against* For**  Against**

1 To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements 
for the financial year ended 30 September 2010 
together with the reports of the Directors and the 
Auditors thereon.

2 To re-elect Ms Lie Ly @ Liely Lee, a Director retiring 
by rotation pursuant to Article 103 of the Articles of 
Association of the Company.

3 To re-elect Mdm Sally @ Lai Qin Zhi, a Director retiring 
by rotation pursuant to Article 103 of the Articles of 
Association of the Company.

4 To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of S$187,000 
for the financial year ending 30 September 2011. (2010: 
S$187,000)

5 To re-appoint Messrs Crowe Horwath First Trust LLP 
as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration.

Special Business

6 To authorise Directors to issue shares pursuant to 
Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50. and in 
accordance with Rule 806 of the Listing Manual.

7 To approve the Proposed Renewal of the Shareholders’ 
Mandate on Interested Person Transactions.

* Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a “√”within the box provided.

** If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please tick (√) within the box provided.

 Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.

Dated this  day of  2011

Number of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s)/Common Seal

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES FOR PROXY FORM



Notes

1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository 

Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number 

of shares. If you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of 

shares. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name 

in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of shares entered against your name in the 

Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If the number of shares is not inserted, 

this proxy form will be deemed to relate to the entire number of ordinary shares in the Company registered in your 

name(s).

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to 

attend and vote on his behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding or the number 

of shares to be represented by each proxy. If no such proportion or number is specified, the first-named proxy may 

be treated as representing 100 per cent of the shareholding and any second-named proxy as alternate to the first-

named.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy, together with the power of attorney (if any) under which it is signed or a notarially 

certified or office copy thereof, shall be deposited at the Registered Office at 11 Sims Drive #02-01 Singapore 387385, 

not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised 

in writing; or if such appointor is a corporation under its common seal, if any, and, if none, then under the hand of 

some officer duly authorised in that behalf. An instrument appointing a proxy to vote at a meeting shall be deemed 

to include the power to demand or concur in demanding a poll on behalf of the appointor.

6. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person 

as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, 

Cap. 50.

7. Please indicate with a “√” in the appropriate space how you wish your proxy to vote. If this proxy form is returned 

without any indication as to how your proxy shall vote, he will vote or abstain from voting as he thinks fit.

General

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly 

completed or illegible or when the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instruments of the 

appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of shares entered in the 

Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being 

the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before 

the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the 

Company.
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